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APPENDIX A

United States Court of Appeals
for the Fifth Circuit

[Filed August 28, 2023]

No. 21-20671

J.W., LORI WASHINGTON, as next friend J.W.,
Plaintiffs-Appellants,
versus
ELVIN PALEY, KATY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Defendants-Appellees.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Texas

USDC No. 4:18-CV-1848

Before GRAVES, WILLETT, and ENGELHARDT, Circuit
Judges.

DoN R. WILLETT, Circuit Judge:

A school resource officer tased a special-needs stu-
dent who physically struggled with school staff while
attempting to leave school following a violent episode.
The student’s mother sued the officer and the school
district, bringing constitutional claims under 42



2a

U.S.C. § 1983 and disability discrimination claims un-
der the Americans with Disabilities Act and the Re-
habilitation Act. We conclude, based on recent Su-
preme Court precedent, that the district court incor-
rectly subjected the disability discrimination claims
to administrative exhaustion. On the merits, however,
the district court correctly granted summary judg-
ment to the officer and school district. Plaintiffs have
not shown that the officer intentionally discriminated
based on the student’s disability. The district court
also correctly denied Plaintiffs’ claim alleging that the
tasing amounted to excessive corporal punishment in
violation of the substantive due process clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment. We AFFIRM.

I
A

The underlying facts are disturbing. In November
2016, Jevon Washington! was a 17-year-old special-
needs student at Mayde Creek High School in the
Katy Independent School District (KISD) in Katy,
Texas. He was diagnosed with “an intellectual disa-
bility” and “an emotional disturbance” that impact
“his daily functioning, his ability to communicate,
control his emotions, and access regular educational
services without accommodations.” At the time, Jevon
was around 6’2” and weighed 250 pounds.

! Because this case involves events that occurred when Jevon
was a minor, the case caption and initial district court filings
referred to him by his initials to protect his identity. Now that
his name has been disclosed, we refer to him by his full name.
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On the day of the incident, Jevon and a fellow spe-
cial-needs student finished their class assignment
and proceeded to play a card game. After some verbal
taunting from the student, Jevon became angry, and
according to a faculty member, punched the student
in the chest before storming out of the classroom.

Jevon tried to enter what he called his “chill out”
room—a designated classroom that the school permit-
ted him to use, under his academic accommodations,
when he needed to regulate his emotions. Finding the
room occupied by another student, Jevon became even
more frustrated. A staff member witnessed Jevon
throw a desk across the room before kicking the door
and heading toward the school exit. He was stopped
in the breezeway by a security guard, a school re-
source officer, an athletic coach, and the assistant
principal.

Soon after, the individual Defendant, school re-
source officer Elvin Paley, heard a request for assis-
tance over the school radio and arrived on the scene.
Officer Paley had never interacted with Jevon before
but said in his declaration that he “knew [Jevon] was
probably a special needs student ... but [he] did not
know anything about [Jevon’s] specific disability or
limitations.” Officer Paley did not witness the earlier
incident in which Jevon punched his classmate but
said that he had previously “witnessed [Jevon] leave
class, curse at teachers, and punch the concrete hall-
way walls.”

Officer Paley’s body camera captured most of the
subsequent events in the breezeway. Officer Paley
watched from a short distance away as Jevon paced
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in front of the exit door, explaining to staff that he
wanted to walk home so he could calm down. The
video shows Security Guard John Oglesby standing in
front of the door, attempting to orally de-escalate the
situation by asking what happened and suggesting
that Jevon go to his designated classroom to calm
down. Jevon only became more agitated, responding
to Guard Oglesby with profanities. When Jevon
pushed against the exit door, a struggle ensued at the
door with Guard Oglesby attempting to hold the door
shut to keep Jevon inside.

Officer Paley moved toward Jevon and Guard
Oglesby, with the body camera footage going dark as
he pushed up against Jevon’s body. Both Officer Paley
and Guard Oglesby told Jevon to calm down several
times. Officer Paley threatened to tase Jevon, and a
voice 1s heard saying, “You are not going to get
through this door, just relax.” Jevon then began
screaming that he wanted to go home.

As Officer Paley moved away from Jevon, the video
becomes clear again, showing Guard Oglesby and a
female school resource officer struggling to hold Jevon
in the doorframe as he tried to slip through. Officer
Paley told the staff members to “let him go,” and as
Jevon walked outside, Officer Paley fired his taser.
Jevon screamed and fell to his knees. With Jevon on
his knees, Officer Paley continued to tase Jevon, us-
ing a “drive stunning” method.2 Officer Paley used

2'To “drive stun” means to hold the taser against the body with-
out deploying the prongs.
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the taser for approximately 15 seconds total, continu-
ing to tase Jevon in the back even after he was lying
facedown on the ground and not struggling.

As a result of the tasing, Jevon urinated, defecated,
and vomited on himself. Officer Paley commanded
Jevon to put his hands behind his back while the fe-
male officer handcuffed him. School officials called
the school nurse and subsequently the paramedics to
treat Jevon. They then contacted Jevon’s mother, Lori
Washington.

Quite understandably, the family struggled in the
aftermath, with Ms. Washington keeping Jevon home
from school for several months because she feared for
his safety at school and because the tasing caused him
intense anxiety and PTSD.

B

After an unfruitful meeting between Ms. Washing-
ton and the school district, Ms. Washington filed a pe-
tition against the school district with the Texas Edu-
cation Agency under the procedures provided in the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).
In addition to the IDEA claims, the petition included
constitutional claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 along
with claims under Title II of the Americans with Dis-
abilities Act (ADA) and § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act
(§ 504).

KISD responded by arguing, in part, that the hear-
ing officer did not have jurisdiction over the non-
IDEA claims. The hearing officer agreed and dis-
missed all non-IDEA claims for lack of jurisdiction.
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Likewise, the hearing officer dismissed the IDEA
claims on timeliness grounds.

Ms. Washington, on behalf of Jevon (collectively
“Plaintiffs”), sued KISD and Officer Paley (collec-
tively “Defendants”) in federal district court, again as-
serting claims under the ADA and § 504 against KISD,
as well as § 1983 claims under the Fourth and Four-
teenth Amendments against Officer Paley.3 Plaintiffs
sought compensatory and punitive damages along
with attorney fees.

Defendants jointly moved for summary judgment.
The district court denied summary judgment on the
§ 1983 Fourth Amendment excessive force claim
against Officer Paley but granted summary judgment
to Defendants on all other claims. The district court
held that: (1) Plaintiffs’ ADA and § 504 claims were
precluded for failure to exhaust administrative proce-
dures; (2) alternatively, Plaintiffs’ ADA and § 504
claims failed on the merits; (3) Plaintiffs’ § 1983 Four-
teenth Amendment substantive due process claim
was precluded under our precedent in Fee v. Hern-
don;* and (4) Officer Paley was not entitled to quali-
fied immunity on the § 1983 Fourth Amendment ex-
cessive force claim because of genuine and material
factual disputes. The district court rejected Plaintiffs’

3 Plaintiffs originally asserted § 1983 claims against KISD but
later abandoned them. They also asserted a claim under the
Texas Constitution against Officer Paley, but the district court
granted summary judgment on that claim, and it is not at issue
in this appeal.

4900 F.2d 804 (5th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 908 (1990).
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motion for reconsideration as to their ADA and § 504
claims.

Defendants challenged the district court’s denial of
qualified immunity on the Fourth Amendment exces-
sive force claim in an interlocutory appeal to this
court, and we reversed in an unpublished opinion.>
Plaintiffs’ requests for a panel rehearing and rehear-
ing en banc were denied.®

Plaintiffs timely appealed the district court’s grant
of summary judgment to Defendants on the disability
discrimination claims and the § 1983 Fourteenth
Amendment substantive due process claim. Specifi-
cally, Plaintiffs argue on appeal that the district court
erred by: (1) subjecting their disability discrimination
claims under the ADA and § 504 to the IDEA exhaus-
tion requirement; (2) concluding that their disability
discrimination claims were not viable on the merits;
and (3) barring Plaintiffs’ substantive due process
claim based on a misreading of our precedent in Fee.

II

“We review a grant of summary judgment de novo,
viewing all evidence in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving party and drawing all reasonable infer-
ences in that party’s favor.”” Summary judgment is
appropriate only when the moving party establishes

5J.W. v. Paley, 860 F. App’x 926 (5th Cir. 2021) (per curiam).
6 Order, J.W. v. Paley, No. 19-20429 (5th Cir. Nov. 18, 2021).

7 Pierce v. Dep’t of the Air Force, 512 F.3d 184, 186 (5th Cir. 2007)
(italics omitted).
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that “there is no genuine dispute as to any material
fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mat-
ter of law.”8

III

In its summary judgment ruling and subsequent
denial of Plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration, the
district court held that Plaintiffs were required to ex-
haust administrative procedures under the IDEA be-
fore bringing their ADA and § 504 claims in district
court. Plaintiffs contend that their ADA and § 504
claims are not subject to the IDEA’s exhaustion pro-
vision.? With the helpful guidance of recent Supreme
Court precedent, we agree with Plaintiffs.

The IDEA aims to ensure that children with disa-
bilities receive special education services.19 It does so
by offering federal funds to states in exchange for a
commitment to furnish a “free appropriate public ed-
ucation” to children with certain disabilities.!! It also
provides procedural safeguards that parents can use
when they disagree with the school regarding their

8 Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).

9 Plaintiffs also argue: (1) that Defendants should be judicially
estopped from relying on the IDEA exhaustion requirement be-
cause they previously made contradictory arguments in the
IDEA due process hearing; and (2) that exhaustion would be fu-
tile. Due to the Supreme Court’s clear guidance on IDEA exhaus-
tion, we decline to address these arguments.

10 Fry v. Napoleon Cmty. Schs., 580 U.S. 154, 158 (2017).

1 ]d.; 20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(1).
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child’s education.!2 Specifically, a parent may file a
complaint with a state or local agency,!3 and after an
initial mandatory meeting,14 may proceed to a “due
process hearing” before an impartial hearing officer, 1
followed by an appeal to the state education agency (if
the initial complaint was filed locally).16¢ Only after
exhausting that process can a parent seek judicial re-
view by filing a civil action in state or federal court.1?

Importantly for our purposes, the IDEA contains
an exhaustion requirement for certain claims brought
under laws that may overlap with the IDEA, includ-
ing the ADA and Rehabilitation Act:

Nothing in [the IDEA] shall be construed to re-
strict or limit the rights, procedures, and rem-
edies available under the Constitution, the
[ADA], title V of the Rehabilitation Act [includ-
ing § 504], or other Federal laws protecting the
rights of children with disabilities, except that
before the filing of a civil action under such
laws seeking relief that is also available under
[the IDEA], the [IDEA’s administrative proce-
dures] shall be exhausted to the same extent as

12 Fry, 580 U.S. at 159.

13 See 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(6).
14 Id. § 1415(f)(1)(B)().

15 Id. § 1415(D)(1)(A).

16 See id. § 1415(g).

17 See id. § 1415(1)(2)(A).
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would be required had the action been brought
under [the IDEA].18

At the time this appeal was filed, our precedent ap-
plied this exhaustion requirement even to suits seek-
ing remedies not provided by the IDEA, such as com-
pensatory damages.1® But prior to oral argument, the
Supreme Court granted certiorari in Perez v. Sturgis
Public Schools,?% and we granted Plaintiffs’ motion to
place this appeal in abeyance, acknowledging the po-
tential impact of Perez on the application of IDEA ex-
haustion.2!

18 Fry, 580 U.S. at 161 (alteration in original) (quoting 20 U.S.C.
§ 1415()).

19 McMillen v. New Caney Indep. Sch. Dist., 939 F.3d 640, 648
(5th Cir. 2019) (“[B]ecause the IDEA can remedy the failure to
provide a blind student with a reader by giving her one, a suit
seeking damages for such a failure must first exhaust the IDEA’s
administrative procedures.”).

20 143 S. Ct. 81 (Mem) (granting certiorari).

21 Order, J.W. v. Paley, No. 21-20671 (5th Cir. Oct. 3, 2022). In
their motion to reconsider abatement, Defendants argue that
Plaintiffs have forfeited any argument that suits for remedies
not available under the IDEA are exempt from the IDEA exhaus-
tion requirement because Plaintiffs only raised the issue in a
“passing footnote.” Indeed, in their opening brief, Plaintiffs
acknowledge in a footnote that the argument is foreclosed by our
decision in McMillen, but “reserve the right to challenge that
holding en banc or in a petition for certiorari to the Supreme
Court.” We hold that this was sufficient to preserve the argu-
ment in the event of intervening Supreme Court precedent. See
United States v. Pineiro, 377 F.3d 464, 467 (5th Cir. 2004) (hold-
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The Supreme Court’s recent decision in Perez pro-
vides unmistakable new guidance.22 Interpreting the
word “relief” in the IDEA’s exhaustion provision as
synonymous with “remedies,” the Court held that be-
cause the IDEA’s exhaustion requirement applies
only to suits that “seek|[ ] relief ... also available un-
der” the IDEA,23 it does not apply “when a plaintiff
seeks a remedy IDEA cannot provide.”24 As the plain-
tiff in Perez sought compensatory damages, a remedy
both sides agreed was unavailable under the IDEA,
his claim was not subject to the IDEA’s exhaustion re-
quirement.25

Similarly here, Plaintiffs seek compensatory and
punitive damages. 26 The IDEA provides neither.
Thus, Plaintiffs can proceed without exhaustion.

ing that an argument was preserved for review in light of inter-
vening Supreme Court precedent when appellant conceded the
argument was foreclosed by circuit precedent but raised it in his
brief only to “preserve it for further review”), cert. granted, va-
cated on other grounds, Pineiro v. United States, 543 U.S. 1101
(2005).

22 Perez v. Sturgis Pub. Schs., 598 U.S. 142 (2023).
23 Id. at 863.

24 Id. at 865.

25 Id. at 863—-64.

26 Plaintiffs also seek attorney fees. Attorney fees are an availa-
ble remedy under the IDEA, see 20 U.S.C. § 1415(1)(3)(B), and
Perez indicates that requests for remedies provided by the IDEA
may be subject to exhaustion even if included in an action that
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Plaintiffs also contend that the district court erred
in holding that their ADA and § 504 claims against
KISD fail on the merits. We disagree. The district
court properly granted summary judgment to KISD
on the merits of the ADA and § 504 claims because
Plaintiffs failed to produce evidence of intentional dis-
crimination.

A

Title II of the ADA provides that “no qualified in-
dividual with a disability shall, by reason of such dis-
ability, be excluded from participation in or be denied
the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of
a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by
any such entity.”27 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation
Act of 1973 provides, in relevant part:

No otherwise qualified individual with a disa-
bility in the United States, as defined in section
705(20) of this title, shall, solely by reason of
her or his disability, be excluded from the par-
ticipation in, be denied the benefits of, or be
subjected to discrimination under any program

also requests damages. Perez, 598 U.S. at 150 (“[A] plaintiff who
files an ADA action seeking both damages and the sort of equi-
table relief IDEA provides may find his request for equitable re-
lief barred or deferred if he has yet to exhaust [IDEA proce-
dures].”). However, it would be nonsensical to apply the exhaus-
tion requirement solely to the attorney fees request because
Plaintiffs’ request for attorney fees is inextricably intertwined
with the ADA and § 504 claims for compensatory and punitive
damages they bring.

2742 U.S.C. § 12132.
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or activity receiving Federal financial assis-
tance or under any program or activity con-
ducted by any Executive agency or by the
United States Postal Service.28

“The language in the ADA generally tracks the
language set forth in [§ 504].”29 And the ADA ex-
pressly provides that “[t]he remedies, procedures, and
rights” available under the Rehabilitation Act are
also accessible under the ADA.30 Thus, we “equate| ]
liability standards under § 504 [of the Rehabilitation
Act] and the ADA.”31

To establish a prima facie case under either stat-
ute, a plaintiff must show:

(1) that he 1s a qualified individual...; (2) that
he is being excluded from participation in, or
being denied benefits of, services, programs, or
activities for which the public entity is respon-
sible, or is otherwise being discriminated
against by the public entity; and (3) that such

28 29 U.S.C. § 794.
29 Delano-Pyle v. Victoria Cnty., 302 F.3d 567, 574 (5th Cir. 2002).
30 42 U.S.C. § 12133.

31 D.A. ex rel. Latasha A. v. Hous. Indep. Sch. Dist., 629 F.3d 450,
453 (5th Cir. 2010).
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exclusion, denial of benefits, or discrimination
1s by reason of his disability.32

“The only material difference between [§ 504 and Ti-
tle II of the ADA] lies in their respective causation re-
quirements.”33 Section 504 requires that the plain-
tiff’s disability be the “sole reason” for the exclusion
or denial of benefits, but the ADA’s standard 1s less
stringent.34

The ADA and § 504 provide for vicarious liability.
This means that a plaintiff need not identify an offi-
cial policy to sustain a claim against a public entity as
it may be held vicariously liable for the acts of its em-
ployees under either statute.35

Plaintiffs can only recover damages under the
ADA or § 504 upon a showing of intentional discrimi-
nation.36 While we have not “delineate[d] the precise
contours” of this intentionality requirement, our
“cases to have touched on the issue require something

32 T.0. v. Fort Bend Indep. Sch. Dist., 2 F.4th 407, 417 (5th Cir.
2021) (alteration in original) (quoting Melton v. Dallas Area
Rapid Transit, 391 F.3d 669, 671-72 (5th Cir. 2004)).

33 Bennett-Nelson v. La. Bd. of Regents, 431 F.3d 448, 454 (5th
Cir. 2005).

34 Id. (quoting Soledad v. U.S. Dep’t of Treasury, 304 F.3d 500,
503 (5th Cir. 2002)).

35 See Delano-Pyle, 302 F.3d at 574-75.

36 Id. at 574.
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more than deliberate indifference.”37 “Of course, this
standard 1s met under circumstances revealing a dis-
criminatory motive.”38

Because disparate treatment and failure-to-ac-
commodate claims under the ADA and § 504 are dis-
tinct,3? the intentionality standard looks different for
each of them. Our case law provides more guidance
for failure-to-accommodate claims than disparate
treatment claims. For a failure-to-accommodate claim
specifically, “intentional discrimination requires at
least actual knowledge that an accommodation is nec-
essary.”40 The requisite notice comes from the plain-
tiff’s request for an accommodation or from facts es-
tablishing that “the disability, resulting limitation,
and necessary reasonable accommodation’ were ‘open,
obvious, and apparent’ to the entity’s relevant
agents.”4! Notice beyond merely notice of the disabil-
ity is required because “[tlhe ADA [and § 504] do] ]

37 Cadena v. El Paso Cnty., 946 F.3d 717, 724 (5th Cir. 2020) (in-
ternal quotations omitted) (quoting Miraglia v. Bd. of Superui-
sors of La. State Museum, 901 F.3d 565, 575 (5th Cir. 2018)).

38 Wilson v. City of Southlake, No. 21-10771, 2022 WL 17604575,
at *6 (5th Cir. Dec. 13, 2022) (per curiam).

39 Windhauser v. Bd. of Supervisors for La. State Univ. & Agric.
& Mech. Coll., 360 F. App’x 562, 565 (5th Cir. 2010) (per curiam).

40 Smith v. Harris Cnty., 956 F.3d 311, 319 (5th Cir. 2020).

41 Windham v. Harris Cnty., 875 F.3d 229, 237 (5th Cir. 2017)
(citation omitted).
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not require clairvoyance.”42 “[K]nowledge of a disabil-
ity 1s different from knowledge of the resulting limi-
tation” and “certainly is different from knowledge of
the necessary accommodation.”43 When a disability is
mental, rather than physical, the disability, resulting
limitations, and necessary reasonable accommoda-
tions often are not “open, obvious, and apparent.”44

B

It is this “intentional discrimination” requirement
that dooms Plaintiffs’ claims under either a disparate
treatment or failure-to-accommodate theory. While
Officer Paley may have used poor judgment when he
tased Jevon, Plaintiffs have failed to create a genuine
dispute on the issue of whether Officer Paley inten-
tionally discriminated against Jevon by reason of his
disability.

On appeal, Plaintiffs frame their ADA and § 504
claims as disparate treatment claims. They point to
Officer Paley’s declaration, in which he stated that he
wanted to keep Jevon inside the school because
Jevon’s disability made leaving the premises unsafe.
According to Plaintiffs’ logic, because Jevon’s disabil-
ity motivated Officer Paley to keep him inside the
school and because he tased Jevon to keep him inside,

42 Id. at 236 (quoting Hedberg v. Ind. Bell Tel. Co., 47 F.3d 928,
934 (7th Cir. 1995)).

43 Id. at 238.

44 Taylor v. Principal Fin. Grp., 93 F.3d 155, 165 (5th Cir. 1996).
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a jury could reasonably conclude Officer Paley dis-
criminated against Jevon by reason of his disability.

But more is required to meet the intentional dis-
crimination standard. Officer Paley’s desire to keep
Jevon inside the school does not rise to the level of
“something more than deliberate indifference” to
Jevon’s disability.4? In fact, record evidence shows
that Officer Paley’s desire to keep Jevon inside the
school arose from consideration of the vulnerabilities
surrounding Jevon’s disability, not from indifference,
much less ill-will or discriminatory animus. As the
district court put it, “The treatment of a disabled stu-
dent may be different from that of a nondisabled stu-
dent, but different is not necessarily discriminatory.”
If different were always discriminatory, then even
disability accommodations would be discriminatory.

Against this logic, Plaintiffs argue that we must
consider the method that Officer Paley used to keep
Jevon from exiting the building: tasing him repeat-
edly. Again, the tasing was arguably excessive. How-
ever, based on the summary judgment evidence, it
was not indifference or hostility toward Jevon’s disa-
bility that motivated Officer Paley when he tased
Jevon, but a desire to keep Jevon safe inside the
school because of the vulnerabilities caused by his dis-
ability. To show why this subtle distinction matters,

45 Plaintiffs argue that “the district court held Plaintiffs to an
unduly high standard for proving discriminatory intent, faulting
Plaintiffs for failing to show that Defendants’ treatment of Jevon
was ‘motivated by ill will, prejudice, or spite.” But this is some-
thing of a red herring as Defendants’ actions do not even rise to
the level of “deliberate indifference.”
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consider a hypothetical non-disabled student behav-
ing similarly to Jevon who was similarly considered,
for whatever reason, unsafe to leave the school. Plain-
tiffs have failed to produce evidence that Officer Paley
would not have tased such a non-disabled student.46

46 Plaintiffs claim that, based on the evidence they produced, a
finder of fact could conclude that a non-disabled student would
have been treated differently than Jevon. Putting aside the fact
that this argument does not speak to the intentional discrimina-
tion requirement, Plaintiffs’ argument is a stretch. Plaintiffs’
summary judgment evidence includes the school district discipli-
nary handbook, which provides that “[s]tudents who leave cam-
pus at any time without parental permission and administrative
approval shall be considered truant and will be subject to disci-
plinary action.” Plaintiffs contend that because nothing in the
handbook allows a school official to restrain a student to prevent
truancy, “a finder of fact could conclude that the truancy policies
that would ordinarily apply to a nondisabled student attempting
to leave campus were not applied to Jevon and that he was in-
stead subjected to a particularly violent form of restraint be-
cause he was disabled.” But the lack of a specific policy allowing
school officials to restrain students attempting to leave school
does not lead to a reasonable inference that a non-disabled stu-
dent attempting to leave campus would have been treated differ-
ently than Jevon. The policy disallows students from leaving
campus and simply does not specify methods by which officials
can stop students from leaving. This makes sense as different
situations may call for different actions from school officials.
Thus, there is no evidence that a non-disabled person would not
have been tased in similar circumstances. And in fact, the record
shows that Officer Paley was involved in another incident in
which he tased a non-disabled student in February 2017. Alt-
hough the student was not attempting to leave the school, the
incident was similar in that Officer Paley deployed his taser to
restrain and gain control over a student behaving disruptively.
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Plaintiffs further argue that Officer Paley’s state-
ments in the aftermath of the tasing show discrimina-
tory intent. Immediately after the tasing, Officer Pa-
ley said to Jevon as he lay on the ground: “I did not
want to tase you, but you do not run shit around here,
you understand?” Officer Paley subsequently ex-
plained, “I got tired of wrestling with him so I popped
him.” While these statements may have been inappro-
priate, they do not show indifference or discrimina-
tory animus toward Jevon’s disability. Indeed, Officer
Paley’s chosen language made no reference to Jevon’s
disability and was not traditionally associated with a
protected disability. Plaintiffs have thus failed to cre-
ate a material dispute on the issue of intentional dis-
crimination in regard to their disparate treatment
claim.

And to the extent Plaintiffs put forth a failure-to-
accommodate claim, it similarly fails. While Officer
Paley said in his declaration that he had prior
knowledge of Jevon’s disability, there is no evidence
that he had notice of its resulting limitations or neces-
sary accommodations. Plaintiffs do not contend that
Officer Paley had been privy to the meetings regard-
ing limitations of and/or accommodations for Jevon’s
disability. Nor were the limitations or accommoda-
tions “open, obvious, and apparent” to Officer Paley.
In fact, he had already witnessed the failure of staff’s
attempts to orally de-escalate the situation. There is
no evidence that Officer Paley was aware or should
have been aware of a further accommodation that
would have calmed Jevon down. Plaintiffs have thus
failed to create a material dispute on the issue of in-
tentional discrimination for their failure-to-accommo-
date claim.
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We reiterate that Officer Paley’s use of his taser in
this situation was poor judgment, especially after
Jevon had ceased struggling. However, § 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act and Title II of the ADA are not the
proper vehicles for remedying “all unreasonable, in-
appropriate, unprofessional, and/or unduly harsh
conduct by public agents.”47

We AFFIRM the district court’s grant of summary
judgment to KISD on the ADA and § 504 claims.

IV

Finally, Plaintiffs argue that the district court mis-
applied our precedent when it granted summary judg-
ment to Officer Paley on the substantive due process
claim.48

47 Wilson, 2022 WL 17604575, at *11.

48 Defendants contend that this argument is precluded by our
previous opinion in J. W. v. Paley, 860 F. App’x 926 (5th Cir. 2021)
(per curiam), under law-of-the-case doctrine. Under that doc-
trine, “when a court decides upon a rule of law, that decision
should continue to govern the same issue in subsequent stages
in the same case.” Lindquist v. City of Pasadena, 669 F.3d 225,
238 (5th Cir. 2012) (citation omitted). While our previous deci-
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In its opinion, the district court acknowledged that
“[s]chool children have a liberty interest in their bod-
ily integrity protected by the Due Process Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment, and ... physical abuse by
a school employee violates that right.” But in granting
summary judgment to Officer Paley, it applied our
holding in Fee v. Herndon, that “as long as the state
provides an adequate remedy, a public school student
cannot state a claim for denial of substantive due pro-
cess through excessive corporal punishment.”49

Plaintiffs contend that Fee is inapplicable because
the tasing incident cannot properly be defined as “cor-
poral punishment.” The Supreme Court has defined
“corporal punishment” as the use of “reasonable but
not excessive force to discipline a child” that a teacher
or administrator “reasonably believes to be necessary

sion discussed Fee, it did not “decide” the substantive due pro-
cess issue. See J.W., 860 F. App’x at 928-29. It only decided the
Fourth Amendment excessive force qualified immunity issue.
Thus, law-of-the-case does not apply. See Pegues v. Morehouse
Par. Sch. Bd., 706 F.2d 735, 738 (5th Cir. 1983).

49 Moore v. Willis Indep. Sch. Dist., 233 F.3d 871, 874 (5th Cir.
2000) (citing Fee, 900 F.2d at 808). In Fee, we denied the sub-
stantive due process claim of a special-needs student’s parents
who alleged that their child was beaten so excessively for misbe-
having that he was forced to remain in psychiatric rehabilitation
for months. 900 F.2d at 805—10. We reasoned that when “the fo-
rum state affords adequate post-punishment civil or criminal
remedies” for corporal punishment, “such states have provided
all the process constitutionally due.” Id. at 808.
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for the (the child’s) proper control, training, or educa-
tion.”50 We've explained: “At bottom, fairly character-
1zing an act as corporal punishment depends on
whether the school official intended to discipline the
student for the purpose of maintaining order and re-
spect or to cause harm to the student for no legitimate
pedagogical purpose.”5!

We have dismissed substantive due process claims
under Fee “when the offending conduct occurred in a
disciplinary, pedagogical setting.”? “In contrast, we
have allowed substantive due process claims against
public school officials to proceed when the act com-

50 Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 661 (1977).

51 Flores v. School Bd. of DeSoto Par., 116 F. App’x 504, 510-11
(5th Cir. 2004).

52 T.0O. v. Fort Bend Indep. Sch. Dist., 2 F.4th 407, 414 (5th Cir.
2021) (“For example, we dismissed substantive due process
claims (1) when a student was instructed to perform excessive
physical exercise as a punishment for talking to a friend;
(2) when a police officer slammed a student to the ground and
dragged him along the floor after the student disrupted class;
(3) when a teacher threatened a student, threw him against a
wall, and choked him after the student questioned the teacher’s
directive; (4) when an aide grabbed, shoved, and kicked a disa-
bled student for sliding a compact disc across a table; and
(5) when a principal hit a student with a wooden paddle for skip-
ping class.” (citations omitted)).
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plained of was ‘arbitrary, capricious, or wholly unre-
lated to the legitimate state goal of maintaining an
atmosphere conducive to learning.”53

Plaintiffs argue that the tasing incident was not
corporal punishment because “Paley was not trying to
punish or discipline Jevon for an infraction.” Officer
Paley, on the other hand, focuses on the word “control”
in the Supreme Court’s definition of corporal punish-
ment, arguing that he was attempting to assert con-
trol over Jevon by restraining him with the taser. Our
precedent favors Officer Paley.

We have applied Fee in cases where, although the
offending conduct may not have been traditional
“punishment,” it was intended to assert order or con-
trol over a student for a legitimate pedagogical pur-
pose. For instance, in T.0. v. Fort Bend Independent
School District, a student was removed from his class-
room due to disruptive behavior.5¢ A teacher who was
walking by positioned herself between the student
and the door so he could not return to the classroom.55
When the student tried to push the teacher so he
could get into the classroom, she threw him to the
ground and placed him in a chokehold.?¢ We applied

53 Id. at 414 (“For example, we held that a substantive due pro-
cess claim could proceed when a teacher allegedly molested a
student, and when a teacher tied a student to a chair for two
days as part of an experimental technique.” (citations omitted)).

54 ]d. at 412.
55 Id.

56 Id.



24a

Fee, explaining, “The facts alleged simply do not sug-
gest that T.O. was the subject of a ‘random, malicious,
and unprovoked attack,” which would justify devia-
tion from Fee.”57

Similarly, this case involves disruptive behavior
from Jevon and a struggle to keep him from going
through a door. And like the teacher in T.0., Officer
Paley was not necessarily “punishing” Jevon but try-
ing to restrain him for the pedagogical purpose of
maintaining order. Like the incident in 7.0., the tas-
ing incident was not a “random, malicious, and unpro-
voked attack.”

Campbell v. McAlister, while not published prece-
dent, is also particularly on point.38 The case con-
cerned a five-year-old boy who was “misbehaving” in
class.? Feeling they could not “control” the boy, his
teacher and the assistant principal summoned the
help of a police officer, Officer McAlister, to remove
the boy from the classroom and escort him to the prin-
cipal’s office.60 The boy’s family alleged that the of-
ficer “slammed [the boy] to the floor” and “dragged
[him] along the ground to the principal’s office.”¢1 We
applied Fee:

57 Id. at 415 (citation omitted).

58 No. 90-20675, 1998 WL 770706 (5th Cir. Oct. 20, 1998) (per
curiam).

5 Id. at *1.
60 Id.
61 Id.
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In this case, there is no question that McAl-
ister’s use of force to remove Dennis from his
classroom w[as] rationally related to legitimate
school interests in maintaining order. As the
district court noted, and the Campbells appar-
ently concede, Texas provides civil and crimi-
nal post-deprivation remedies for the excessive
use of force by school officials. Thus, the district
court correctly concluded that the Campbells’s
substantive due process claim fails as a matter
of law.62

Like Officer McAlister, Officer Paley is a law en-
forcement officer. And in both cases, the officers were
not engaged in traditional “punishment” of a student,
but used force for restraint purposes. In each case this
restraint was used for a legitimate pedagogical pur-
pose—either transporting a disruptive student to the
principal’s office to limit disruption or keeping a dis-
ruptive student inside the school due to safety con-
cerns. While the force used in each case may have
been excessive, the purpose of such force was “ration-
ally related to legitimate school interests in maintain-
ing order.”63

The cases that Plaintiffs cite are inapposite. One
involved the sexual molestation of a student by her
teacher, %4 and the other involved a teacher tying a

62 Id. at *5.
63 Id.

64 Doe v. Taylor Indep. Sch. Dist., 15 F.3d 443, 445 (5th Cir. 1994)
(en banc).
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student to a chair for two days as part of an experi-
mental teaching technique,®® acts plainly “unrelated
to any legitimate state goal.”66 This case clearly falls
on the T.0. and McAlister side of the spectrum.

Again, under Fee, claims for excessive corporal
punishment are precluded if the forum state provides
adequate post-punishment civil or criminal remedies.
Texas provides such remedies.67

We AFFIRM the district court’s grant of summary
judgment to Officer Paley on the Fourteenth Amend-
ment substantive due process claim.

\Y%

Parents deserve to believe that their children, no
matter their unique needs, are safe at school. We are
sympathetic to what Ms. Washington and Jevon have
endured. However, controlling precedent provides no
remedy for the claims they bring.

AFFIRMED.

65 Jefferson v. Ysleta Indep. Sch. Dist., 817 F.2d 303, 305-06 (5th
Cir. 1987).

66 T.0., 2 F.4th at 414.

67 McAlister, 1998 WL 770706, at *5.
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JAMES E. GRAVES, JR., Circuit Judge, dissenting in
part:

I agree with the majority that the district court
erred in subjecting Jevon Washington’s disability dis-
crimination claims to an exhaustion requirement. But
I disagree with the majority that Washington’s disa-
bility discrimination claims are not viable on the mer-
its. Further, because there are genuine disputes of
material fact sufficient to defeat summary judgment,
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I would vacate and remand on the disability discrim-
ination claims. Thus, I respectfully dissent in part.

The district court denied summary judgment as to
the excessive force claim, saying that there were gen-
uine disputes of material fact as to whether the tasing
was objectively unreasonable and whether qualified
immunity applied. But the district granted summary
judgment as to Washington’s other claims. In doing so,
the district court found that Washington had failed to
exhaust his disability discrimination claims. Wash-
ington moved for reconsideration on the basis that the
district court erred by imposing an exhaustion re-
quirement. The district court denied the motion, reas-
serting its exhaustion finding. The district court also
found, in the alternative, that Washington’s disability
discrimination claims failed on the merits. Specifi-
cally, the district court found that, “[t]he record evi-
dence shows no factual dispute material to determin-
ing that the defendants did not intentionally discrim-
inate against [Washington] because of his disabili-
ties.”

Both the district court and the majority set out the
requisite elements for Washington to establish such a
disability discrimination claim, and the requirement
that he prove the discrimination was intentional, or
something more than deliberate indifference, to re-
cover damages. See T.O. v. Fort Bend Indep. Sch. Dist.,
2 F.4th 407, 417 (5th Cir. 2021); see also Delano-Pyle
v. Victoria Cty., Tex., 302 F.3d 567, 574 (5th Cir. 2002);
and Cadena v. El Paso Cnty., 946 F.3d 717, 724 (5th
Cir. 2020). Though acknowledging that Washington
was treated differently than a non-disabled student



29a

would have been, the district court found that the “un-
controverted summary judgment evidence under-
mines any inference” that Paley’s actions were “moti-
vated by ill will, prejudice, or spite” or “by reason of”
Washington’s disabilities.

The majority now affirms that Washington is una-
ble to establish intentional discrimination, saying
that, Paley “may have used poor judgment” in repeat-
edly tasing Washington, but there is no dispute on
whether it was not intentional discrimination by rea-
son of his disability. However, the record here does
not support such a conclusion.

Paley’s argument is contradictory, as is the major-
ity’s resulting analysis. For example, Paley admits
knowing that Washington was disabled but then
claims he had no knowledge of Washington’s specific
disability.! However, that claim is contradicted by Pa-
ley’s additional claim that he tased Washington re-
peatedly because his disability made leaving the
premises unsafe. If Paley had no knowledge of Wash-
ington’s specific disability, then he would not know
whether his disability made leaving the premises un-
safe or whether repeatedly tasing him would be an
appropriate accommodation.

Similarly, the majority says, “based on summary
judgment evidence, it was not indifference or hostility
towards Jevon’s disability that motivated Officer Pa-
ley when he tased Jevon, but a desire to keep Jevon
safe inside the school because of the vulnerabilities

1 Paley’s claim is further contradicted by his admission that he
knew of multiple specific incidents.
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caused by his disability.” Again, if Paley had no
knowledge of Washington’s specific disability, then he
had no knowledge of any specific vulnerabilities or ac-
commodations.2 Further, the majority fails to cite any
authority for its attempt to equate repeatedly tasing
a disabled student with a disability accommodation.

The majority also fails to give sufficient weight to
Paley’s explicit statements as to exactly why he re-
peatedly tased Washington, conceding only that they
“may have been inappropriate.” These statements are
much more than inappropriate. Instead, they directly
contradict Paley’s claim that he repeatedly tased
Washington to protect him. Paley told Washington, “I
did not want to tase you, but you do not run shit
around here.” Paley then said, “I got tired of wrestling
with him so I popped him.” Significantly, Paley did
not say anything about tasing Washington repeatedly
to keep him safe or as an accommodation. Paley’s ac-
tual statements support Washington’s argument that
he was tackled and repeatedly tased because of his
disability. The record clearly establishes that Wash-
ington was attempting to leave because of his disabil-
1ty. The issue is whether Paley tackled and tased him
repeatedly because he believed that it was necessary
to keep Washington safe, as he says now, or because
of indifference, ill will, hostility or discriminatory in-
tent. Paley’s statements that “you do not run shit

2This is further supported by the majority’s analysis of Wash-
ington’s failure-to-accommodate claim, wherein it concludes that
“there is no evidence that [Paley] had notice of its resulting lim-
itations or necessary accommodations.” (Emphasis original).
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around here” and “I got tired of wrestling with him so
I popped him” fall squarely into the latter category.

Moreover, nothing Paley said prior to tasing Wash-
ington provides support for Paley’s claim that he was
only concerned about Washington’s safety. As re-
counted by the majority, Paley threatened to tase
Washington, who screamed that he wanted to go
home. Paley then moved away and told staff members
to “let him go,” as if Washington was going to be al-
lowed to leave. Once Washington walked outside, Pa-
ley then repeatedly tased him, even after he was lying
face down on the ground.

As the majority concedes, we must view the evi-
dence in the light most favorable to Washington and
draw all reasonable inferences in his favor. See Kari-
uki v. Tarango, 709 F. 3d 495, 501 (5th Cir. 2013).
When we do that, there are clearly genuine disputes
of material fact sufficient to overcome summary judg-
ment on the disability discrimination claims. See Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). Because I would vacate and remand
on these claims, I respectfully dissent in part.
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APPENDIX B

United States Court of Appeals
for the Fifth Circuit

[Filed June 23, 2021]

No. 19-20429

J.W., LORI WASHINGTON, as next friend J.W.,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,
versus

ELVIN PALEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Texas
USDC No. 18-CV-1848

Before KING, JONES, and COSTA, Circuit Judges.
PER CURIAM:"

This is a suit against a school resource officer for
tasing a special education student who was trying to
leave the school after engaging in disruptive behavior.
The district court denied summary judgment based on

* Pursuant to 5TH CIRCUIT RULE 47.5, the court has determined
that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limited circumstances set forth in 5TH CIRCUIT
RULE 47.5.4.
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its conclusion that the facts, taken in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff, supported a finding of exces-
sive force under a Fourth Amendment analysis. Alt-
hough some of our cases have applied the Fourth
Amendment to school official’s use of force, other
cases have held that such claims cannot be brought.
That divide in our authority is the antithesis of clearly
established law supporting the existence of Fourth
Amendment claims in this context. As a result, the
defendant prevails on his qualified immunity defense.

L.

When the events at issue in this case took place,
J.W. was a 17-year-old special education student at
Mayde Creek High.! One day he got into an argument
with another student over a card game. He cursed,
yelled, and punched the other student before storm-
ing out of a classroom and into a hallway. J.W. went
to a “chill out” classroom he would go to when he was
upset, but another student was already there. He
threw a desk across the room, kicked a door, and
yelled that he hated the school. J.W. then headed to-
ward doors leading out of the school.

School officials who saw J.W.’s outbursts notified
Assistant Principal Denise Majewski, who in turn
asked school resource officer Elvin Paley for help
keeping J.W. inside the building. When Paley arrived
at the exit, a security guard, another school resource

1 Given the summary judgment posture, the facts that follow are
taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.
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officer, a school coach, and Majewski were already
there.

The district court summarized what happened
next as revealed by Paley’s bodycam:

The recording shows J.W. pacing in front of the
door leading outside the school building and
complaining to the school staff member block-
ing the door that he wants to leave so he could
walk home and calm down. He is not yelling at
the staff members, but the video recording
shows him looking agitated and occasionally
raising his voice. The recording then
shows J.W. starting to push the door open. The
staff member pushes back on the door to
keep J.W. inside, but it does not appear
that J.W. pushes the staff member, as the Katy
School District contends. Within about five sec-
onds of J.W. pushing on the door, Officer Pa-
ley moves toward JW. and the staff mem-
ber. Officer Paley’s body camera then becomes
dark as he pushes up against J.W.’s body. Both
Officer Paley and the staff member tell J.W. to
“calm down” several times. A male voice threat-
ens J.W. with tasing. About 20 seconds later,
the male voice says, “You are not going to get
through this door, just relax.” J.W. then begins
screaming.

The video becomes clear again as Of-
ficer Paley moves away from J.W. The record-
ing shows two individuals holding J.W. Ap-
proximately 10 seconds after Officer Pa-
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ley tells J.W. to relax, Officer Paley tells the in-
dividuals holding J.W. to “let him go,” and fires
the taser. J.W. immediately screams and falls
to his knees. About 5 seconds later, the video
recording shows Officer Paley beginning to
“drive stun” J.W. near his bottom right torso,
and then on J.W.'s upper back. “Drive stun”
means to hold the taser against the body with-
out deploying the prongs. J.W., still on his
knees, then falls to the ground completely. The
taser is used on J.W. for approximately 15 sec-
onds. This use of the taser on J.W.’s upper back
continues after J.W. is lying face down on the
ground and not struggling.

School officials called emergency medical services
and the school nurse. Eventually, J.W. was taken to a
hospital. J.W. missed several months of school after
the incident. J.W. contends he suffers from severe
anxiety and posttraumatic stress disorder as a result
of the tasing.

J.W. and his mother brought various claims
against Paley and Katy Independent School District.
The defendants moved for summary judgment, which
the district court granted on all claims except for
a section 1983 claim against Paley alleging excessive
force under the Fourth Amendment right.

Paley filed this interlocutory appeal, which is al-
lowed for denials of qualified immunity that turn “on
an issue of law.” Kinney v. Weaver, 367 F.3d 337, 346
(5th Cir. 2004) (en banc).



36a
1I.

A plaintiff can overcome an official’s qualified im-
munity if he can show “(1) that the official violated a
statutory or constitutional right, and (2) that the right
was ‘clearly established’ at the time of the challenged
conduct.” Morgan v. Swanson, 659 F.3d 359, 371
(5th Cir. 2011) (en banc) (citation omitted). Courts
can choose which of these elements to address
first. Id. We resolve this case on the second ground
because our law does not clearly establish a student’s
Fourth Amendment claim against school officials.

We start with an issue on which our law is quite
clear even if it is at odds with the law in in other cir-
cuits: students cannot assert substantive due process
claims against school officials based on disciplinary
actions. See Fee v. Herndon, 900 F.2d 804 (5th Cir.
1990). Although recognizing that corporal punish-
ment “is a deprivation of substantive due process
when 1t is arbitrary, capricious, or wholly unrelated
to the legitimate state goal of maintaining an atmos-
phere conducive to learning,” id. at 808 (citation
omitted), we held that such punishment does “not im-
plicate the due process clause if the forum state af-
fords adequate post-punishment civil or criminal rem-
edies for the student to vindicate legal transgres-
sions,” id. Because we concluded that Texas does pro-
vide remedies for excessive corporal punishment, we
dismissed a student’s substantive due process claim
challenging a principals’ paddling. Id. at 810. Fee has
been criticized, Moore v. Willis Indep. Sch. Dist., 233
F.3d 871, 87680 (5th Cir. 2000) (Wiener, dJ., specially
concurring); Neal ex rel. Neal v. Fulton Cnty. Bd. of
Educ., 229 F.3d 1069, 1075 n.2 (11th Cir. 2000) but
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remains binding in our circuit, 7.0. v. Fort Bend Ind.
Sch. Dist., -- F.3d --, 2021 WL 2461233, at *2—-3 (June
17, 2021).

What about the Fourth Amendment right J.W. as-
serts? Perhaps the rejection of a substantive due pro-
cess right does not also doom the more specific right
to be free from unreasonable seizures. After all, the
Supreme Court has emphasized that courts should
ground claims in textually specific constitutional
rights rather than in the “the more generalized notion
of substantive due process.” See Cty. of Sacramento v.
Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 842 (1998); see also Graham v.
Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 395 (1989) (“Because the
Fourth Amendment provides an explicit textual
source of constitutional protection against this sort of
physically intrusive governmental conduct, that
Amendment, not the more generalized notion of ‘sub-
stantive due process,” must be the guide for analyzing
these claims.”). And the Fourth Amendment’s com-
panion right to be free from unreasonable searches
applies in schools, though its protections are lessened
to account for pedagogical interests. See Vernonia Sch.
Dist. 47 v. Acton, 515 U.S. 646 (1995).2

J.W. can find some support in our caselaw for his
Fourth Amendment claim. In a case dealing with a
student’s claim of excessive detention (though not ex-
cessive force), we said that the Fourth Amendment

2 At least two courts of appeals allow Fourth Amendment claims
challenging excessive discipline of students. See Preschooler II v.
Clark Cnty. Sch. Bd. of Tr., 479 F.3d 1175, 1182 (9th Cir. 2007);
Wallace by Wallace v. Batavia Sch. Dist. 101, 68 F.3d 1010, 1016
(7th Cir. 1995).



38a

“right extends to seizures by or at the direction of
school officials.” Hassan v. Lubbock Indep. Sch. Dist.,
55 F.3d 1075, 1079 (5th Cir. 1995). An unpublished,
and thus nonbinding, opinion later held that a claim
of excessive force brought against two school security
guards was “properly analyzed under the Fourth
Amendment.” Keim v. City of El Paso, 162 F.3d 1159,
1998 WL 792699, at *1, *4 n.4 (5th Cir. 1998) (per cu-
riam) (unpublished); see also Campbell v. McAlister,
162 F.3d 94, 1998 WL 770706, at *3 (5th Cir.
1998) (per curiam) (unpublished) (not deciding
whether the Fourth or Fourteenth Amendment ap-
plied but noting that Graham v. Connor indicates
that claims challenging governmental forces should
“be confined to the Fourth Amendment alone”). Most
recently, a published decision held that factual dis-
putes required trial of a Fourth Amendment excessive
force claim brought against a school resource officer
who slammed a student into a wall. Curran v.
Aleshire, 800 F.3d 656 (5th Cir. 2015).

The problem for J.W. is that at least one decision
from our court, albeit an unpublished one, rejected
the notion of Fourth Amendment claims based on
school discipline. We reasoned that allowing a
Fourth Amendment challenge to a teacher’s choking
a student would “eviscerate this circuit’s rule against
prohibiting substantive due process claims” based on
the same conduct. Flores v. Sch. Bd. of DeSoto Par.,
116 F. App’x 504, 510 (5th Cir. 2004) (unpublished).
The even bigger obstacle to J.W.’s claim may be Fee’s
comment, though the case did not involve a Fourth
Amendment claim, that “the paddling of recalcitrant
students does not constitute a [F]ourth [A]mendment
search or seizure.” 900 F.2d at 810.
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The upshot is that our law is, at best for Paley, in-
consistent on whether a student has a Fourth Amend-
ment right to be free of excessive disciplinary force ap-
plied by school officials. That does not make for either
the “controlling authority” or “consensus of cases of
persuasive authority” needed to show a right is
clearly established. Wilson v. Layne, 526 U.S. 603,
617 (1999). The best case for J.W., and the one the
district court understandably relied on, is Curran.
Although that case did allow a Fourth Amendment
claim against a school resource officer to get past sum-
mary judgment, the defendant had not argued that a
student’s Fourth Amendment claim was at odds
with Fee. As qualified immunity is an affirmative de-
fense, Pasco ex rel. Pasco v. Knoblauch, 566 F.3d 572,
577 (5th Cir. 2009), the officer’s failure to assert im-
munity on the grounds that students cannot bring
Fourth Amendment excessive force claims meant the
question was not squarely before the court.

Citing many of the cases we have just discussed,
our court recently held that a plaintiff could not iden-
tify a clearly established Fourth Amendment right
against school officials’ use of excessive force. See T.0.,
2021 WL 2461233, at * 4. That conclusion renders Pa-
ley immune from the Fourth Amendment claim as-
serted in this case.

* % %

The denial of summary judgment is REVERSED
and judgment is RENDERED in favor of Paley.
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In the
United States District Court for the
Southern District of Texas, Houston Division

[Filed June 5, 2019]

LORI WASHINGTON, ex rel. J.W.,
Plaintiffs,
v.

KATY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,
and ELVIN PALEY,
Defendants.

Civil Action No. H-18-1848

MEMORANDUM AND OPINION

A public school officer in the Katy Independent
School District’s police department tased and hand-
cuffed J.W., a 17-year-old special-education student.
His mother, Lori Washington, sued the Katy Inde-
pendent School District and School Resource Officer
Elvin Paley for violating of J.W.’s federally protected
rights. (Docket Entry Nos. 1, 12). After discovery, the
Katy School District and Officer Paley moved for sum-
mary judgment, Ms. Washington responded, and the
Katy School District and Officer Paley replied.
(Docket Entry Nos. 28, 29, 31).

Based on the motion, response, and reply; the sum-
mary judgment record; the parties’ arguments at the
motion hearing; and the applicable law, the court
grants the defendants’ summary judgment motion for
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all claims except the § 1983 claim against Officer Pa-
ley. (Docket Entry No. 28). That claim remains.

The reasons for these rulings are detailed below.
I. Background

In November 2016, J.W. was enrolled at the
Mayde Creek High School in the Katy Independent
School District. He was diagnosed as emotionally dis-
turbed and intellectually disabled in ways that im-
pacted “his daily functioning, including his ability to
communicate, control his emotions, and access regu-
lar educational services without accommodations.”
(Docket Entry No. 12 at 99 31-32). According to the
police incident report, J.W. was around 6’2" and
weighed 250 pounds. (See Docket Entry No. 28-4 at 3,
11).

On November 30, 2016, J.W. was in a classroom
playing a card game with another student. They
started bickering, which developed into what J.W. de-
scribed as “being bullied and harassed.” (Docket En-
try No. 29-2 at § 6; see Docket Entry No. 28-6 at 2;
Docket Entry No. 12 at 4 34). According to an un-
sworn statement by Ashley Lucas, a school staff mem-
ber, J.W. cursed and yelled, then punched the other
student in the chest and knocked him out of his chair.
(Docket Entry No. 28-6 at 2). J.W. left the classroom
and went down the hallway, continuing to yell and
curse. (Id.). J.W.’s teacher emailed Assistant Princi-
pal Denise Majewski, who was responsible for the
school’s special-education students, to alert her of the
situation. (Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 2, 6).
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J.W. took himself to a “chill out” classroom that he
used when he was upset. He found a student already
there. (Docket Entry No. 29-2 at 19 8-9). Coach Larry
Hamilton was standing outside that classroom talk-
ing with a student and saw J.W. throw a desk across
the room, shouting that he “hated” the school. (Docket
Entry No. 28-7). Hamilton saw J.W. kick the door,
leave the occupied “chill” classroom, and continue
down the hallway toward a door leading out of the
school building. (Id.). School officials blocked him
from leaving the building, and events escalated from
there. (See Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 2—3; Docket En-
try No. 28-9 at 2).

J.W.s description of this first stage of the events
1s different. (Docket Entry No. 29-2). He did not men-
tion in his declaration throwing a desk or cursing. He
stated that after leaving the “chill-out” classroom, he
walked “towards a door leading to a breeze way be-
tween buildings on the campus,” where he was
stopped by a staff member who “loosely block[ed] the
doors.” (Id. at §9 9-11). A female Katy Independent
School District police officer arrived soon after. (Id. at
9 11). J.W. stated that he told the staff member block-
ing the doors that keeping him inside was just making
him more upset. He asked to leave so that he could
“cool down.” (Id. at 99 13, 14). Minutes later, he
“calmly walk[ed] toward the door nearest [him] and
attempt[ed] to go outside,” not touching anyone. (Id.
at 9 16).

Assistant Principal Majewski learned of the situa-
tion when J.W. left the “chill out room” and was in the
hallway. (Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 2). Officer Elvin
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Paley, a school resource officer, stated in his declara-
tion that Assistant Principal Majewski radioed for as-
sistance to come help keep J.W. inside the school
building. (Docket Entry No. 28-1 at 9 3). When Assis-
tant Principal Majewski arrived at the scene, a school
security guard, John Oglesby, and Coach Hamilton
were trying to talk J.W. out of leaving the building.
Security guard Oglesby was blocking the door.
(Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 2; see Docket Entry No. 28-
9 at 2). Assistant Principal Majewski stated in her
declaration that J.W. was “direct[ing] profanity to-
ward the staff,” and that she was concerned about J.W.
leaving because the staff “would lose all control over
him, and he might get injured.” (Docket Entry No. 28-
8 at 2).

Officer Paley’s body camera recorded J.W.’s inter-
actions with the officers and school staff after that
point. The recording shows J.W. pacing in front of the
door leading outside the school building and com-
plaining to the school staff member blocking the door
that he wants to leave so he could walk home and
calm down. He is not yelling at the staff members, but
the video recording shows him looking agitated and
occasionally raising his voice. The recording then
shows J.W. starting to push the door open. (Docket
Entry No. 28-10 at 12:45:54). The staff member
pushes back on the door to keep J.W. inside, but it
does not appear that J.W. pushes the staff member,
as the Katy School District contends. Within about
five seconds of J.W. pushing on the door, Officer Paley
moves toward J.W. and the staff member. Officer Pa-
ley’s body camera then becomes dark as he pushes up
against J.W.’s body. Both Officer Paley and the staff
member tell J.W. to “calm down” several times. A
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male voice threatens J.W. with tasing. About 20 sec-
onds later, the male voice says, “You are not going to
get through this door, just relax.” (Id. at 12:46:05,
12:46:26). J.W. then begins screaming.

The video becomes clear again as Officer Paley
moves away from J.W. The recording shows two indi-
viduals holding J.W. Approximately 10 seconds after
Officer Paley tells J.W. to relax, Officer Paley tells the
individuals holding J.W. to “let him go,” and fires the
taser. (Id. at 12:46:37). J.W. immediately screams and
falls to his knees. About 5 seconds later, the video re-
cording shows Officer Paley beginning to “drive stun”
J.W. near his bottom right torso, and then on J.W.'s
upper back. (Id. at 12:46:41).1 “Drive stun” means to
hold the taser against the body without deploying the
prongs. J.W., still on his knees, then falls to the
ground completely. The taser is used on J.W. for ap-
proximately 15 seconds. (Id. at 12:46:56). This use of
the taser on J.W.’s upper back continues after J.W. is
lying face down on the ground and not struggling.

After Officer Paley stops tasing J.W., Officer An-
gela Molina, another school resource officer, places
handcuffs on J.W.’s wrists, behind his back. (Id. at
12:47:11). Less than a minute later, while J.W. lies
panting on the ground, Officer Paley points the taser

1Tt 1s not clear from the video recording or the summary judg-
ment evidence whether Officer Paley drive stunned J.W. in sep-
arate uses of the taser or if he continued activating the taser
when moving its application to another part of J.W.’s body. The
video recording does show, however, that Officer Paley drive
stuns J.W. on both the lower torso and upper back. (See Docket
Entry No. 28-10).
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at J.W.’s head, yelling, “I did not want to tase you, but
you do not run shit around here, you understand?” (Id.
at 12:47:50).

According to Officer Paley, he used the taser the
second time to drive stun J.W. because the first time
did not have enough effect. This second use of the
taser brought J.W. to a prone position on the floor
with his hands under his chest. (Docket Entry No. 28-
lat 9 7).

J.W. stated that he began to scream and cry as Of-
ficer Paley tased him, and that Officer Paley kept tas-
ing him “approximately six to eight times” even after
he was on the ground. (Docket Entry No. 29-2 at 19 24,
26). According to J.W., when paramedics arrived, they
had to remove a taser prong “embedded ... near [his]
right rib cage.” (Id. at q 47).

J.W. thought he was under arrest. He urinated
and defecated on himself after being tased. (Id. at
19 29, 34). J.W. stated that as he was being hand-
cuffed, he began having difficulty breathing and, even
after being moved to his side, he felt like he was going
to die. (Id. at 99 36, 37). It was only when he was al-
lowed to sit upright that he was able to “take a big
gulp of air.” (Id. at § 38).

Officer Paley stated that he called dispatch and
asked for emergency medical services. (Docket Entry
No. 28-1 at 9 9). Officer Paley also told security guard
Oglesby to get the school nurse. (Id. at 9§ 8; Docket
Entry No. 28-8 at 3, § 5). Officer Paley’s body camera
video recording shows school nurse Shirley Willett
treating J.W. The recording also shows the school of-
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ficers and staff responding to J.W.’s reports of diffi-
culty breathing. (Docket Entry No. 28-10; see also
Docket Entry No. 28-1 at 9 9; Docket Entry No. 28-8
at 3).

EMS arrived around 1:00 p.m., about 15 minutes
after the tasing. (Docket Entry No. 28-4 at 4, 14, 23;
Docket Entry No. 28-1 at 4 10; Docket Entry No. 28-8
at § 5). J.W. was taken back to the school’s security
office around 1:30 p.m. (Docket Entry No. 28-1 at § 10;
Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 3). According to Vice-Princi-
pal Majewski, she tried to contact Ms. Washington
shortly after that. (Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 3). J.W.
stated that the school did not contact his mother until
“the female paramedic inform[ed] the school officials
that they should have contacted [his] mother immedi-
ately.” (Docket Entry No. 29-2 at 9 46; id. at | 43,
49). Vice-Principal Majewski stated that when she
called Ms. Washington’s phone, it would not accept
new messages, J.W.'s emergency-contact number did
not work, and emails to Ms. Washington went unan-
swered. (Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 3). At 2:00 p.m., Ms.
Washington called Vice-Principal Majewski and said
that she was on her way to the school. (Id.).

Before Ms. Washington arrived, Vice-Principal
Majewski received a call from the Westlake Emer-
gency Medical Services explaining that another am-
bulance was going to the school, at Ms. Washington’s
request. (Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 3). Ms. Washing-
ton had contacted EMS because Vice-Principal
Majewski had not informed her that another ambu-
lance had already been to the school and EMS had as-
sessed J.W. (Docket Entry No. 12 at 9 86-87; Docket
Entry No. 29-1 at 49 24-25). The second ambulance
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left the campus to take J.W. to the hospital at 3:05
p.m. (Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 3). Neither party de-
scribes the treatment J.W. received at the hospital.

Ms. Washington alleges that J.W. was not a dan-
ger to himself or others when he was tased. She al-
leges that local school board policies allowed for de-
tention only in limited circumstances and required no
more than a disciplinary-infraction citation—not
physical detention—for students who leave campus
without permission. (Docket Entry No. 12 at 9 4, 30).
She alleges that the Katy School District staff who
worked with J.W. were aware that he was being bul-
lied, and that they understood that “walking it off”
was the best way for J.W. to cope with stressful situ-
ations. (Id. at 9 35-37).

J.W. missed school for several months after the
tasing. Ms. Washington explained that she kept J.W.
home “due to fear for his safety while at school,” and
that J.W.’s “private medical providers supported [that]
decision.” (Docket Entry No. 29-1 at q 34). She stated
that “J.W. suffer[ed] from intense anxiety and PTSD”
because of the tasing, “has lost his trust for police of-
ficers,” and was “traumatized by the experience,” as-
serting that the video recording showed that “the
taser touched J.W. seven times.” (Id. at 9 35, 43, 45).
She stated that school and Katy School District staff
would not talk to her about the incident, but she was
able to watch a video recording provided by the super-
intendent’s office. (Id. at § 35).

Ms. Washington and Vice-Principal Majewski
agree that the staff and Ms. Washington were unable
to schedule a meeting until April 2017. (Id. at 9 36;
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Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 3—4). Ms. Washington stated
that the staff abruptly cancelled that meeting when
she arrived with an attorney. (Docket Entry No. 29-1
at § 37). According to Vice-Principal Majewski, she
and other staff then tried to contact Ms. Washington,
but Ms. Washington did not reliably or promptly re-
spond. (Docket Entry No. 28-8 at 3—4).

Vice-Principal Majewski stated that the scheduled
April 2017 meeting was an Admission, Review, and
Dismissal meeting, convened primarily to discuss
J.W.s absences, not to discuss the tasing. (Id. at 4).
She explained that the school rescheduled the April
meeting after deciding that the school’s attorney
should attend if Ms. Washington was going to have
counsel present. (Id.). The rescheduled meeting oc-
curred on May 22, 2017, approximately six months af-
ter the tasing. (Id.). The amended complaint alleged
that the school staff “never scheduled the promised
meeting to discuss the incident and continued to re-
fuse Ms. Washington’s requests to do so.” (Docket En-
try No. 12 at § 101).

Ms. Washington sues Officer Paley under §§ 1983
and 1988 for discriminating against J.W. in violation
of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment; for violating J.W.’s substantive and pro-
cedural due process rights to dignity, privacy, and
bodily integrity; for using excessive force against J.W.;
and for depriving J.W. of his right to an education un-
der Article I of the Texas Constitution and the Four-
teenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. (Docket
Entry No. 12 at 9 124-52). Ms. Washington alleges
that the Katy School District is liable for unconstitu-
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tional policies, procedures, practices, and customs, in-
cluding failing to train and supervise staff, in viola-
tion of the Fourteenth Amendment; violating § 504 of
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; and failing to provide
reasonable accommodations under Title II of the ADA.
(Id. at 99 119-23, 153-72). Ms. Washington also al-
leges that the Katy School District is liable for Officer
Paley’s and other Katy School District employees’ ac-
tions under a ratification theory. (Id. at 9 173-76).

Each claim is analyzed below in light of the record
and the applicable law.

II. The Summary Judgment Standard

“Summary judgment is required when ‘the movant
shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any ma-
terial fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as
a matter of law.” Trent v. Wade, 776 F.3d 368, 376
(5th Cir. 2015) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a)). “A gen-
uine dispute of material fact exists when the ‘evidence
1s such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict
for the nonmoving party.” Nola Spice Designs, LLC v.
Haydel Enters., Inc., 783 F.3d 527, 536 (5th Cir. 2015)
(quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 248
(1986)). “The moving party ‘bears the initial responsi-
bility of informing the district court of the basis for its
motion, and identifying those portions of [the record]
which it believes demonstrate the absence of a genu-
ine issue of material fact.” Id. (quoting EEOC v. LHC
Grp., Inc., 773 F.3d 688, 694 (5th Cir. 2014)); see also
Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986).

“Where the non-movant bears the burden of proof
at trial, the movant may merely point to the absence
of evidence and thereby shift to the non-movant the
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burden of demonstrating by competent summary
judgment proof that there is an issue of material fact
warranting trial.” Id. (quotation marks omitted); see
also Celotex, 477 U.S. at 325. Although the party mov-
ing for summary judgment must demonstrate the ab-
sence of a genuine issue of material fact, it does not
need to negate the elements of the nonmovant’s case.
Boudreaux v. Swift Transp. Co., 402 F.3d 536, 540
(5th Cir. 2005). “A fact is ‘material’ if its resolution in
favor of one party might affect the outcome of the law-
suit under governing law.” Sossamon v. Lone Star
State of Tex., 560 F.3d 316, 326 (5th Cir. 2009) (quo-
tation omitted). “If the moving party fails to meet [its]
initial burden, the motion [for summary judgment]
must be denied, regardless of the nonmovant’s re-
sponse.” United States v. $92,203.00 in U.S. Currency,
537 F.3d 504, 507 (5th Cir. 2008) (quoting Little v.
Liquid Air Corp., 37 F.3d 1069, 1075 (5th Cir. 1994)
(en banc)).

“Once the moving party [meets her or his initial
burden], the non-moving party must ‘go beyond the
pleadings and by her [or his] own affidavits, or by the
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admis-
sions on file, designate specific facts showing that
there is a genuine issue for trial.” Nola Spice, 783
F.3d at 536 (quoting LHC Grp., 773 F.3d at 694). The
nonmovant must identify specific evidence in the rec-
ord and articulate how that evidence supports that
party’s claim. Baranowski v. Hart, 486 F.3d 112, 119
(5th Cir. 2007). “This burden will not be satisfied by
‘some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts, by
conclusory allegations, by unsubstantiated assertions,
or by only a scintilla of evidence.” Boudreaux, 402
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F.3d at 540 (quoting Little, 37 F.3d at 1075). In decid-
ing a summary judgment motion, the court draws all
reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to
the nonmoving party. Connors v. Graves, 538 F.3d 373,
376 (5th Cir. 2008); see also Nola Spice, 783 F.3d at
536.

II1. Analysis
A. The Summary Judgment Evidence

The defendants submitted the following summary
judgment evidence:

* Officer Paley’s declaration;

+ Katy Independent School District Police Depart-
ment Captain Kevin Tabor’s declaration;

* Officer Paley’s training and education record;

* Katy Independent School District Police Depart-
ment’s taser training materials and slideshow;

* The police report for J.W.’s tasing;

* Katy Independent School District Police Depart-
ment’s use of force and investigation into Officer
Paley’s use of the taser on J.W.;

+ Katy Independent School District Police Depart-
ment’s report on Officer Paley’s use of the taser on
another student in 2017;

+ Katy Independent School District Police Depart-
ment’s policies on the use of force and the use of
tasers;
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+ Ashley Lucas’s statement;
* Coach Larry Hamilton’s sworn statement;
* Vice-Principal Majewski’s declaration;
* Security guard Ogelsby’s sworn statement;
* The body-camera video recording of the tasing;

+ Ms. Washington’s request for a Special Educa-
tion Due-Process Hearing; and

+ Texas Special Education Hearing Officer David
A. Berger’s order dismissing the due-process hear-
ing.

(Docket Entry Nos. 28-1-28-12). The defendants also
submitted the Mayde Creek High School Student
Handbook, Officer Paley’s deposition, and Officer Pa-
ley’s taser-download report with their reply. (Docket
Entry Nos. 31-1-31-3).

In response, Ms. Washington submaitted:
* Her declaration;
+ J.W.’s declaration;

+ A selection of Katy Independent School District’s
policies and procedures; and

* “Documents produced by the [Katy Independent
School District] during discovery,” including J.W.’s
school records.

(Docket Entry Nos. 29-1-29-5). Ms. Washington’s re-
sponse explains that she incorporates by reference the
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first amended complaint and relies on “all other state-
ments, arguments|[,] and exhibits provided by the De-
fendants in all their own pleadings filed in this [case],
which evidence is deemed admitted and is self-au-
thenticated.” (Docket Entry No. 29 at 8).

B. The Section 504 and ADA Claims

Ms. Washington alleged that because the Katy In-
dependent School District “failed to provide [J.W.] a
safe and non-hostile educational environment,” it
“contributed to violating J.W.’s rights pursuant to
Section 504.” (Docket Entry No. 12 at q 156). Accord-
ing to the amended complaint, the Katy Independent
School District “failed and refused to permit [J.W.] to
leave the campus as they would have otherwise per-
mitted a non-disabled student to do, solely because of
his disability”; grossly deviated from professional care
standards; made J.W. the victim of disparate impact
and intentional discrimination under § 504; and “spe-

cifically undermined and interfered with” J.W.s
rights under § 504. (Id. at §9 157-62).

Ms. Washington also alleged violations of Title II
of the Americans with Disabilities Act. The amended
complaint alleged that J.W. is a “qualified individual
with a disability” and that the Katy Independent
School District “failed and refused to reasonably ac-
commodate and modify services to [J.W.],” including
by not allowing him to leave campus as nondisabled
students would have. (Id. at 49 163-72).

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act states that
“[n]o otherwise qualified individual with a disability ...
shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be ex-
cluded from the participation in, be denied benefits of,
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or be subjected to discrimination under any program
or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.” 29
U.S.C. § 794(a). The ADA states that “no qualified in-
dividual with a disability shall, by reason of such dis-
ability, be excluded from participation in or be denied
the benefits of the services, programs, activities of a
public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any
such entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 12132. The Fifth Circuit
treats the liability standards as equivalent in the
school context. Scherff v. S. Tex. Coll., No. 7:16-CV-
658, 2017 WL 3783042, at *4 (S.D. Tex. Aug. 29, 2017)
(citing Doe v. Columbia-Brazoria Indep. Sch. Dist.,
855 F.3d 681, 690 (5th Cir. 2017)).

1. Judicial Estoppel and the Exhaustion
Argument

The Katy Independent School District argues that
the court should grant summary judgment dismissing
the ADA and § 504 claims because Ms. Washington
did not exhaust her administrative remedies. (Docket
Entry No. 28 at 13-17). They point to the Individuals
with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C.
§ 1415 et seq., which governs public education for chil-
dren with disabilities. (Id. at 13). The Act states that,
“before the filing of a civil action under such laws
seeking relief that is also available under [the IDEA],
the procedures under [the IDEA’s administrative re-
view provisions] shall be exhausted to the same ex-
tent as would be required had the action been brought
under [the IDEA].” 20 U.S.C. § 1415(1). Before suing,
plaintiffs must file with the appropriate state agency
a complaint detailing the problems or issues “relat[ed]
to the 1dentification, evaluation, or educational place-
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ment of the child, or the provision of a free appropri-
ate public education to such child.” 20 U.S.C.
§§ 1415()(6)(A), (f). Complainants get hearings be-
fore the Texas Education Agency and may bring an
action in state or federal court only after the Agency’s
hearings are complete. Hooker v. Dall. Indep. Sch.
Dist., No. 3:09-CV-1289-D, 2010 WL 4025877, at *5
(N.D. Tex. 2010). A “plaintiff cannot escape [this re-
quirement] merely by bringing suit under a statute
other than the IDEA.” Fry v. Napoleon Cmty. Sch.,
137 S. Ct. 743, 754 (2017).

Ms. Washington filed an administrative complaint
for a due-process hearing about the tasing before the
Texas Education Agency. The Katy Independent
School District argued to the Hearing Officer that the
administrative complaint should be dismissed for lack
of jurisdiction. Ms. Washington asserts that the Katy
Independent School District is now judicially es-
topped from arguing that this court lacks jurisdiction
due to a failure to exhaust. (Docket Entry No. 29 at
19).

“Judicial estoppel is a common law doctrine by
which a party who has assumed one position in his
pleadings may be estopped from assuming an incon-
sistent position.” Brandon v. Interfirst Corp., 858 F.2d
266, 268 (5th Cir. 1988). The purpose of the doctrine
1s “to protect the integrity of the judicial process” by
“prevent[ing] parties from playing fast and loose with
the courts to suit the exigencies of self interest.” Id.
(internal marks omitted) (quoting USLIFE Corp. v.
U.S. Life Ins. Co., 560 F. Supp. 1302, 1304—-05 (N.D.
Tex. 1983)). Judicial estoppel has three requirements:
“(1) the party is judicially estopped only if its position
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1s clearly inconsistent with the previous one; (2) the
court must have accepted the previous position; and
(3) the non-disclosure must not have been inadvert-
ent.” In re Superior Crewboats, Inc., 374 F.3d 330, 335
(5th Cir. 2004) (citing Scarano v. Cent. R.R. Co., 203
F.2d 510, 513 (3d Cir. 1953)).

In its response to Ms. Washington’s due-process
hearing complaint, the Katy Independent School Dis-
trict argued that “Special Education Due Process
hearings are limited to matter relating to the identi-
fication[,] evaluation or educational placement of a
child with disability, or the provision of [a free appro-
priate public education] to a child with a disability.”
(Docket Entry No. 27 at 180 (citing 34 C.F.R.
§ 300.507(a))). As a result, the Katy Independent
School District argued, “[t]he Hearing Officer’s sole
jurisdiction in this matter is with regard to claims
brought under the IDEA,” and he does “not have ju-
risdiction to make specific rulings about whether spe-
cific facts” violated “the constitutional or federal laws
other than the IDEA.” (Id. at 180—81). The Katy Inde-
pendent School District’s argument before the Hear-
ing Officer was that because he lacked jurisdiction to
hear allegations of ADA or § 504 violations, and he
could not make findings that would allow the Ms.
Washington “to meet the administrative exhaustion
requirements under any statute other than the IDEA,”
the administrative claims had to be dismissed. (Id.).
The Hearing Officer agreed and dismissed without
prejudice all of Ms. Washington’s claims, except for
those brought under the IDEA, based on the lack of
subject-matter jurisdiction. (Id. at 122).
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Other courts have considered whether judicial es-
toppel applies in similar circumstances. In Boggs v.
Krum Independent School District, No. 4:17-cv-583,
2019 WL 1293851 (E.D. Tex. Mar. 21, 2019), the dis-
trict court concluded that a school district was judi-
cially estopped from arguing that the plaintiffs failed
to administratively exhaust claims under the ADA
and § 504 because the school district had stipulated
in the administrative hearing that the “[p]laintiff’s al-
legations did not raise ‘issues related to the [IDEA] or
concerns that the student did or did not receive a Free
Appropriate Public Education,” and the hearing of-
ficer dismissed the claims on that basis. Id. at *4. Ac-
cording to the court, “[t]he only reasonable way to in-
terpret [the stipulation’s] language is that [the
pllaintiff's allegations do not raise IDEA issues that
the State Agency need|ed] to decide one way or other,
making any exhaustion requirement under the IDEA
moot.” Id. at *5. In C.M. v. Cedar Park Charter Acad-
emy PTO, No. 1:18-CV-644-RP, 2019 WL 1856414
(W.D. Tex. Apr. 24, 2019), the court acknowledged
that the school district had taken inconsistent posi-
tions in its administrative-exhaustion argument for
Title IX claims, because it had argued in the adminis-
trative due-process hearing that the hearing officer
lacked jurisdiction to hear the Title IX claims and that
“the hearing officer could not afford [the plaintiff] any
remedies because he was no longer a student.” Id. at
*4. The court concluded, however, that because the
plaintiffs had voluntarily dismissed their administra-
tive complaint without prejudice, judicial estoppel did
not prevent the school district from arguing failure to
exhaust in the federal-court litigation. Id.
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Ms. Washington is correct that the Katy Independ-
ent School District argued to the Hearing Officer that
he lacked jurisdiction over Ms. Washington’s ADA
and § 504 claims, and that the Hearing Officer dis-
missed those claims for lack of jurisdiction. (Docket
Entry No. 27 at 122, 180). However, the Katy Inde-
pendent School District’s position in the administra-
tion hearing and the current litigation position are
not inconsistent. The Katy Independent School Dis-
trict now argues that because Ms. Washington’s
claims under the ADA and § 504 overlap with relief
sought under the IDEA, administrative exhaustion
was required under the IDEA. (Docket Entry No. 28
at 13—-17). Unlike the school district in Boggs, the
Katy Independent School District did not argue that
Ms. Washington’s ADA and § 504 claims were unre-
lated to issues covered by the IDEA. That the claims
and relief sought under the ADA and § 504 overlapped
with the IDEA is not inconsistent with this jurisdic-
tional-exhaustion argument.

The defendants are not judicially estopped from
arguing failure to exhaust in this litigation.

2. Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies
Under the IDEA

Because judicial estoppel does not bar the admin-
istrative-exhaustion argument, the court evaluates
whether Ms. Washington had to administratively ex-
haust her § 504 and ADA claims and, if so, whether
she did so in the administrative hearing she and J.W.
received. While administrative exhaustion is not re-
quired for claims under the § 504 and the ADA provi-
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sion designed “to root out disability-based discrimina-
tion” in public institutions, the Supreme Court ex-
plained in Fry v. Napoleon Community Schools, 137 S.
Ct. 743 (2017), that exhaustion is required when a
plaintiff claims “relief for the denial of a free appro-
priate public education.” Id. at 754. Whether “the gra-
vamen of a complaint against a school concerns the
denial of a [free appropriate public education]” de-
pends on whether (1) “the plaintiff [could] have
brought essentially the same claim if the alleged con-
duct had occurred” outside of school and (2) “an adult
at the school ... [could] have pressed essentially the
same grievance.” Id. at 756. Pursuing the IDEA’s ad-
ministrative remedies is often strong evidence that
the gravamen of a plaintiff’s claim is an IDEA claim
based on the denial of a free and appropriate public
education. Id.

Not all § 504 or ADA claims against a school dis-
trict relate to the denial of a free appropriate public
education. Fry set out a hypothetical to illustrate
when administrative exhaustion would not be re-
quired:

suppose that a teacher, acting out of animus or
frustration, strikes a student with a disability,
who then sues the school under a statute other
than the IDEA .... [T]he suit could be said to
relate, in both genesis and effect, to the child’s
education. But the school districts opine, we
think correctly, that the substance of the plain-
tiff’s claim is unlikely to involve the adequacy
of special education—and thus is unlikely to re-
quire exhaustion.
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Id. at 756 n.9. A plaintiff is also not required to ex-
haust administrative remedies under the IDEA when
those remedies would be inadequate or futile. Honig
v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 327 (1988), superseded on other
grounds by statute, 20 U.S.C. § 1415(k)(1)(G).

a. The § 504 and ADA Claims Required
Exhaustion

Ms. Washington argues that the ADA and § 504
claims do not require administrative exhaustion
based on Fry. She asserts that when a school staff
member injures a child, “there is no need to exhaust
claims under the IDEA,” citing Dabney v. Highland
Park Elementary School District, No. 3:15-CV-2122-1,
2016 WL 1273467 (N.D. Tex. Mar. 31, 2016), to argue
that when a plaintiff “alleges a ‘pure discrimination
claim’ or ‘non-education injuries’ [that] cannot ‘be re-
dressed by the IDEA’s administrative procedures and
remedies,’ the IDEA exhaustion requirement does not
apply.” (Docket Entry No. 29 at 18 (quoting Dabney,
at *6)).

Most of Ms. Washington’s § 504 and ADA claims
could not be brought if the alleged conduct had hap-
pened outside school. The amended complaint alleges
that the Katy Independent School District violated
§ 504 by “fail[ing] to provide the student a safe and
non-hostile educational environment.” (Docket Entry
No. 12 at § 156). This claim rests on J.W.’s student
status; “an adult at the school” could not have brought
the same claim. See Fry, 137 S. Ct. at 756.

The amended complaint also alleges that J.W. is
entitled to damages based in part on his “[lJoss of ed-
ucational opportunities to the same extent as a non-
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disabled student.” (Id. at § 183(a)). According to Ms.
Washington, the Katy Independent School District vi-
olated the ADA and § 504 by “fail[ing] and refus[ing]
to permit [J.W.] to leave the campus as they would
have otherwise permitted a non-disabled student to
do,” showing discrimination against J.W. under both
laws. (Id. at 9 157, 160-62, 169—70). She alleges that
“J.W. has a private cause of action against [the Dis-
trict] for their failure to follow relevant regulations
promulgated pursuant to the ADA” and § 504, which
injured J.W. (Id. at 9 158, 171-72). These regula-
tions are not identified in the amended complaint or
in Ms. Washington’s response to the summary judg-
ment motion. Applying Fry, however, these claims
clearly depend on J.W.’s student status and could not
be brought if J.W. had been an adult visitor to the
school. Under Fry, Ms. Washington had to adminis-
tratively exhaust the ADA and § 504 claims.

A plaintiff is not required to administratively ex-
haust claims if the plaintiff shows that administrative
exhaustion would be futile or inadequate. See Gard-
ner v. Sch. Bd. Caddo Par., 958 F.2d 108, 112 (1992)
(quoting Honig, 484 U.S. at 327). Ms. Washington ar-
gues that she is excused from administrative exhaus-
tion J.W.’s because she seeks only monetary damages
and because seeking administrative relief would be
futile given that J.W. is no longer a student. (Docket
Entry No. 29 at 18-19).

District courts in this circuit and most circuit
courts to address this 1ssue have concluded that seek-
ing damages rather than an injunction does not make
the IDEA exhaustion requirement futile. Doe v. Dall.
Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 3:17-cv-1284-B, 2018 WL
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1899296, at *4 (N.D. Tex. Apr. 19, 2018); see also Well-
man v. Butler Area Sch. Dist., 877 F.3d 125, 131 n.7
(3d Cir. 2017). (“[A] plaintiff’'s request for remedies
not available under the IDEA does not remove the
claim from being subject to exhaustion.”); Frazier v.
Fairhaven Sch. Comm., 276 F.3d 52, 63 (1st Cir. 2002)
(allowing plaintiffs to circumvent the IDEA adminis-
trative process by seeking only relief that the IDEA
administrative officials cannot grant would under-
mine the statute); but see J. A. v. Corpus Christi ISD,
No. 2:17-CV-182, 2018 WL 4469861, at *5 (S.D. Tex.
Sept. 18, 2018) (“Because administrative exhaustion
would be futile with respect to J.A.’s claims for tort-
based damages, it is not a prerequisite to bringing
these claims in this Court.”). The Fifth Circuit has
suggested its agreement with this reasoning. See Doe
v. E. Baton Rouge Par. Sch. Bd., 121 F.3d 705, 1997
WL 450173, at *1 (5th Cir. 1997) (unpublished) (af-
firming a district court’s dismissal of a § 1983 suit for
money damages because a remedy was available un-
der the IDEA and exhaustion was required).

J.W.s age and stage do not show futility. In Ripple
v. Marble Falls Independent School District, 99 F.
Supp. 3d 662 (W.D. Tex. 2015), the district court con-
sidered the plaintiff’s argument that an IDEA claim
against a school district would be futile because he
had graduated from high school and was over 21. Id.
at 687. The court explained that most courts examin-
ing whether graduation and age show futility con-
clude that a “plaintiff[ ] cannot sidestep the exhaus-
tion requirements by seeking non-IDEA relief after
the plaintiff has graduated.” Id. at 688 (citing McCor-
mick v. Waukegan Sch. Dist. No. 60, 374 F.3d 564, 568
n. 2 (7th Cir. 2004)). J.W. was a student during, and
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for months after, the tasing. He could have sought re-
lief while still a student through the administrative
process, which could have changed his individualized
education plan or resulted in additional services. See
Polera v. Bd. of Educ. of Newburgh Enlarged City Sch.
Dist., 288 F.3d 478, 490 (2d Cir. 2002) (“[W]e reiterate
our holding that disabled-student plaintiffs ... should
not be permitted to ‘sit on’ live claims and spurn the
administrative process .... The fact that the adminis-
trative process could not provide damages does not
render [the plaintiff’s] claim futile; she could have ob-
tained complete relief at the time, through changes to
her IEPs, additional educational services, and, if nec-
essary, remedial education.”).

Ms. Washington has not shown that the adminis-
trative process would have been futile.

b. Whether Ms. Washington Adminis-
tratively Exhausted the Claims

Ms. Washington filed a petition on December 4,
2017, with the Texas Education Agency, asking the
Agency to appoint a hearing officer under 20 U.S.C.
§ 1415(b)(7). (Docket Entry No. 28-11). The petition
raised claims under § 504, the ADA, and § 1983. (Id.).
The Katy Independent School District responded by
asking for the dismissal of the non-IDEA claims on
the ground that the Agency lacked jurisdiction.
(Docket Entry No. 27 at 71-72). In February 2018, the
Hearing Officer dismissed the non-IDEA claims for
lack of jurisdiction. (Id. at 180-81).

“Exhaustion requires more than pleading a
claim ... it requires ‘findings and decision’ by the ad-
ministrative body.” Reyes v. Manor Indep. Sch. Dist.,
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850 F.3d 251, 256 (5th Cir. 2017). The Katy Independ-
ent School District argues that because the “belated
due process complaint was dismissed on grounds of
timeliness,” Ms. Washington cannot now show ex-
haustion. (Docket Entry No. 28 at 16).

The summary judgment evidence shows no factual
disputes material to concluding that Ms. Washington
did not and cannot show that she exhausted her ad-
ministrative remedies. The Hearing Officer found
that the petition requesting a due-process hearing un-
der the IDEA was filed “four days beyond the statute
of limitations” set by the Texas Administrative Code.
(Docket Entry No. 27 at 117; Docket Entry No. 28-12
at 9). The Hearing Officer concluded that the Ms.
Washington did not prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that a limitations exception applied and dis-
missed the IDEA claims as time-barred. (Docket En-
try No. 27 at 71-72). Because there were no “findings
and decision’ by the administrative body” on the mer-
its, Ms. Washington did not exhaust administrative
remedies. Summary judgment is granted to the de-
fendants on the non-IDEA claims.

C. The Claims Against Officer Paley
1. Excessive Force

a. The § 1983 Claims Against Officer Pa-
ley for Violating J.W.s Fourth
Amendment Rights

The defendants suggest that the Fifth Circuit’s de-
cision in Fee v. Herndon, 900 F.2d 804 (5th Cir. 1990),
holding that the plaintiffs could not bring substantive
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due-process claims under § 1983 for excessive cor-
poral punishment if the state had adequate state-law
remedies, entitles them to summary judgment on the
§ 1983 claims against Officer Paley for his use of force
against J.W. (Docket Entry No. 28 at 22). Ms. Wash-
ington responds that “J.W.’s injuries were not pursu-
ant to corporal punishment and as such the cases
cited by [Officer Paley] in regard to 14th Amendment
due process claims[ ] do not help him in regard to 4th
Amendment claims.” (Docket Entry No. 29 at 27).

The defendants are correct that courts have inter-
preted Fee to preclude substantive due-process claims
against school officials for using corporal punishment
on students. See, e.g., Marquez v. Garnett, 567 F.
App’x 214, 217-18 (5th Cir. 2014); D.A. v. Hous. Indep.
Sch. Dist., 716 F. Supp. 2d 603, 625 (S.D. Tex. 2009),
aff’d sub nom. D.A. ex rel. Latasha A. v. Hous. Indep.
Sch. Dist., 629 F.3d 450 (5th Cir. 2010). Less clear is
Fee’s application to excessive-force claims against po-
lice officers for injuring students on school grounds.?2
This is consistent with the Fifth Circuit’s statement
that “the scope of the Fourth Amendment is not lim-
ited to criminal investigations, but rather, extends
generally to searches and seizures by government ac-
tors.” Campbell v. McAlister, 162 F.3d 94, 1998 WL
770706, at *3 (5th Cir. 1998) (unpublished) (citing
New dJersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325 (1985)); see also
Milligan v. City of Slidell, 226 F.3d 652, 654 (5th Cir.

2 Officer Paley works for the Katy Independent School District
Police Department. Neither party has argued that the standards
for police officers in municipal police departments do not apply
to a school district’s police force.
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2000) (“The [Supreme] Court [has] indicated that alt-
hough the Fourth Amendment applies in schools, the
nature of those rights is what is appropriate for chil-
dren in school.”).

When faced with similar Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendment claims against a police officer who used
force that injured a student on school grounds, the
Fifth Circuit has not applied Fee to foreclose § 1983
excessive-force claims under the Fourth Amendment.
See Curran v. Aleshire, 800 F.3d 656, 660 (5th Cir.
2015). In other cases involving police officers’
searches and seizures of students on school grounds,
courts have allowed, and analyzed under the reason-
ableness standard, § 1983 excessive-force claims al-
leging Fourth Amendment violations. See, e.g., id.;
Foster v. McLeod Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 5:08-CV-71,
2009 WL 175154, at *14—*15 (E.D. Tex. Jan. 23, 2009).
Fee does not foreclose Ms. Washington’s § 1983 exces-
sive-force claim against Officer Paley.

b. The Record Evidence on Qualified
Immunity

Qualified immunity protects government officials
“from liability for civil damages insofar as their con-
duct does not violate clearly established statutory or
constitutional rights of which a reasonable person
would have known.” Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S.
800, 818 (1982). Qualified immunity “is an affirmative
defense; once properly raised by the defendant, the
‘plaintiff has the burden to negate the assertion of
qualified immunity.” King v. Handorf, 821 F.3d 650,
653 (5th Cir. 2016) (quoting Collier v. Montgomery,
569 F.3d 214, 217 (5th Cir. 2009)). If invoked, a court
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must first find “that the plaintiff’s pleadings assert
facts which, if true, would overcome the defense of
qualified immunity.” Backe v. LeBlanc, 691 F.3d 645,
648 (5th Cir. 2012). “[C]onclusory allegations and un-
substantiated assertions” cannot overcome the de-
fense. Miller v. Graham, 447 F. App’x. 549, 551 (5th
Cir. 2011). “A plaintiff can overcome a qualified 1m-
munity defense by showing ‘(1) that the official vio-
lated a statutory or constitutional right, and (2) that
the right was clearly established at the time of the
challenged conduct.” Allen v. Cisneros, 815 F.3d 239,
244 (5th Cir. 2016) (per curiam) (quoting Ashcroft v.
al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 735 (2011)). Courts have dis-
cretion to decide which of the two elements to address
first. Vincent v. City of Sulphur, 805 F.3d 543, 547
(5th Cir. 2015).

“When considering a defendant’s entitlement to
qualified immunity, [a court] must ask whether the
law so clearly and unambiguously prohibited his con-
duct that ‘every reasonable official would understand
that what he is doing violates [the law].” Morgan v.
Swanson, 659 F.3d 359, 371 (5th Cir. 2011) (en banc)
(emphasis and alteration in original) (quoting al-
Kidd, 563 U.S. at 741). “If officers of reasonable com-
petence could disagree as to whether the plaintiff’s
rights were violated, the officer’s qualified immunity
remains intact.” Tarver v. City of Edna, 410 F.3d 745,
750 (5th Cir. 2005). The court “must be able to point
to controlling authority—or a ‘robust consensus of
persuasive authority'—that defines the contours of
the right in question with a high degree of particular-
1ty.” Morgan, 659 F.3d at 371-72 (quoting al-Kidd,
563 F.3d at 742). A case directly on point is not re-
quired, “but existing precedent must have placed the
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statutory or constitutional question beyond debate.”
Mullenix, 136 S. Ct. at 308 (quoting al-Kidd, 563 U.S.
at 741). The plaintiff must also show that the defend-
ant’s conduct was objectively unreasonable. Gates v.
Tex. Dep’t of Protective & Regulatory Servs., 537 F.3d
404, 419 (5th Cir. 2008). “An official’s actions are “ob-
jectively reasonable unless all reasonable officials in
the defendant’s circumstances would have then
known that the conduct violated the Constitution.” Id.
at 419.

To establish excessive force under the Fourth
Amendment, a plaintiff must show: “(1) an injury,
(2) which resulted directly and only from a use of force
that was clearly excessive, and (3) the excessiveness
of which was clearly unreasonable.” Poole v. City of
Shreveport, 691 F.3d 624, 628 (5th Cir. 2012) (citing
Ontiveros v. City of Rosenberg, 564 F.3d 379, 382 (5th
Cir. 2009)). The reasonableness inquiry “requires an-
alyzing the totality of the circumstances.” Plumhoff v.
Rickard, 572 U.S. 765, 774 (2014). Determining if the
force used was excessive “requires careful attention to
the facts and circumstances of each particular case.”
Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 396 (1989). A court
must consider only the information available to the
officer at the time and must recognize that officers of-
ten make split-second decisions in stressful situations.

Id.

The defendants argue that clearly established law
permitted an officer to use force that was not “clearly
excessive to the need” or “objectively unreasonable,”
and that Officer Paley’s actions were objectively rea-
sonable. (Docket Entry No. 28 at 19-20). They point
to the amended complaint’s admission that J.W. “was
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in the midst of an emotional breakdown and anxiety
attack” as evidence that that the situation required
Officer Paley to physically restrain J.W. (Id. at 20 (cit-
ing Docket Entry No. 12 at 9 3)). The defendants pri-
marily rely on Officer Paley’s police report, which de-
scribes J.W.’s behavior and cursing, the staff’s failed
attempts to get J.W. to go back to his classroom, and
J.W.s failure to comply with verbal commands and
physical attempts to keep him from leaving the school
building. (Id. at 20—21 (citing Docket Entry No. 28-4)).
The defendants also point to J.W.’s physical size to
support Officer Paley’s decision to use the taser. J.W.
was bigger and heavier than Officers Paley and Mo-
lina. (Id. at 21). Officer Paley’s statement in the police
report states that he had concluded that the school
staff’s attempts to subdue J.W. with “soft and hard
hand techniques were not effective” before he decided
to use the taser. (Docket Entry No. 28-4 at 4). The de-
fendants contend that the video recording from Of-
ficer Paley’s body camera supports his statements
that before he used the taser and after J.W. “pushed”
security guard Oglesby and resisted attempts to calm
him down, Officer Paley went to the next step on the
“use of force continuum.” (Docket Entry No. 28 at 20—
22; Docket Entry No. 28-1 at q 6).

Ms. Washington responds that the right to be free
of excessive force was clearly established, including
the right to be free of excessive force from an officer’s
use of a taser. (Docket Entry No. 29 at 25 (citing Poole
v. Shreveport, 691 F.3d 624, 627 (5th Cir. 2012))). Ac-
cording to Ms. Washington, Officer Paley’s actions
were not objectively reasonable because J.W. did not
commit a crime, there was no immediate safety risk
to the officers, J.W. was not “evading arrest because
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he was never under arrest,” and J.W. “was not diso-
beying any police orders or being non-compliant with
police orders” because he did not receive orders before
the tasing. (Id. at 25-26). Ms. Washington also as-
serts that “J.W.’s injuries were not pursuant to cor-
poral punishment,” and that it was objectively unrea-
sonable for Officer Paley to continue to tase J.W. after
he was lying helpless on the ground. (Id. at 27).

i. Whether Officer Paley’s Force Was
Excessive

“Students have a constitutional right under the
Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to be free from
unreasonable searches and seizures while on school
premises.” Porter v. Ascension Par. Sch. Bd., 393 F.3d
608, 621-22 (5th Cir. 2004) (citing T'.L.O., 469 U.S. at
334-37). However, “the nature of those rights is what
1s appropriate for children in school.” Milligan v. City
of Slidell, 226 F.3d 652, 654-55 (5th Cir. 2000).
“Fourth Amendment rights ... are different in public
schools than elsewhere; the ‘reasonableness’ inquiry
cannot disregard the school’s custodial and tutelary
responsibility for children.” Vernonia Sch. Dist. 47J v.
Acton, 515 U.S. 646, 656 (1995).

The defendants cite several cases to support their
argument that Officer Paley’s actions were objectively
reasonable as a matter of law. In Orr v. Copeland, 844
F.3d 484 (5th Cir. 2016), an officer tased a suspect
who had fallen to the ground. Id. at 492—-93. The court
found this objectively reasonable because the suspect
had driven off at high speed after officers ordered him
to step out of his vehicle, and then continued to evade
the officers when the chase continued on foot. Id. at
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493. In Carroll v. Ellington, 800 F.3d 154, 176 (5th
Cir. 2015), the officers’ use of a taser on a suspect in
the suspect’s home was objectively reasonable be-
cause the suspect “failed to comply with verbal task
directions and actively resisted all attempts to subdue
and detain him.” Id. at 176. Because the officers “re-
sponded with measured and ascending actions that
corresponded to the [suspect’s] ‘escalating ... physical
resistance,” the court concluded that they were enti-
tled to qualified immunity. Id. at 176 (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). And in Poole v. City of Shreve-
port, 691 F.3d 624, 629 (5th Cir. 2012), the court con-
cluded that the officers’ conduct was not clearly exces-
sive or objectively unreasonable when they tased the
suspect after that suspect disobeyed commands and
struggled against being physically restrained. Id. at
629. The defendants also cite the Mayde Creek High
School Student Handbook as evidence that school
rules forbade students from leaving the school with-
out permission, and cite the evidence showing that
J.W. was physically resisting officials and officers.
(Docket Entry No. 31-1). J.W.’s declaration does not
describe any cursing or physical struggling to leave
the building, but does describe his pleas to school of-
ficials to be allowed to leave so that he could “walk it
off” and cool down. (See Docket Entry No. 28-4; Docket
Entry No. 29-2).

Whether Officer Paley’s force was objectively rea-
sonable requires looking at similar cases involving ex-
cessive force in the school context. See Thomas v. City
of New Orleans, 883 F. Supp. 2d 669, 688 (E.D. La.
2012) (“If the Fifth Circuit has declined to recognize
school children’s claims under the Fourth Amend-
ment for school officials’ use of restraining techniques,
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1t seems that school children’s claims against police
officers responding to a school’s request for back-up
cannot be analyzed in a way that is divorced from the
school context.”).

The Fifth Circuit has explained that “[t]he Fourth
Amendment’s reasonableness standard must afford
school officials with a relatively wide range acceptable
action in dealing with disruptive students.” McAlister,
162 F.3d at *1 (citing 7.L.0., 469 U.S. at 340 (“[M]ain-
taining security and order in the schools requires a
certain degree of flexibility in school disciplinary pro-
cedures, and we have respected the value of preserv-
ing the informality of the student-teacher relation-
ship”)). “The fact that less force could have been used,
or that a more appropriate punishment may have
been available, is not enough to establish that the
punishment administered was unconstitutional.” Id.
(citing Hassan v. Lubbock Indep. Sch. Dist., 55 F.3d
1075, 1081-82 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 995
(1995).

As with any suspect, a student’s “active resistance
is a key factor in the Fourth Amendment’s ‘objective
reasonableness’ test.” Curran v. Aleshire, 800 F.3d
656, 661 (5th Cir. 2015) (citing Graham, 490 U.S. at
396). Officers may “use reasonable force to subdue
and handcuff suspects who strike them or are other-
wise resisting,” but “the force calculus changes sub-
stantially once that resistance ends.” Id. (citing Bal-
lard v. Burton, 444 F.3d 391, 401 (5th Cir. 2006)).
Once the student stops resisting, the officer must stop
using physical force aimed at subduing resistance. In
Curran, a high-school student alleged that a sheriff’s
deputy violated her Fourth Amendment rights by
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slamming her head into a wall after she had hit the
deputy, but after she had stopped struggling or resist-
ing. Id. at 6568-59. On interlocutory appeal, the Fifth
Circuit concluded that there were genuine factual dis-
putes material to determining whether the student
was “resisting at the time” of the force, when “no other
Graham factor [was] implicated” because the student
was “not attempting to flee, [the officer] did not fear
for his own safety, and no bystander was endangered
by [the student’s behavior].” Summary judgment was
not appropriate. Id. at 662.

Second, it is not always unreasonable for school of-
ficials to use force when a student fails to follow in-
structions and is disruptive—as long as the force used
1s reasonable in amount and duration. In Campbell v.
MecAlister, 162 F.3d 94, 1998 WL 770706 (5th Cir.
1998), the court considered allegations that a school
official had used excessive force to remove a disrup-
tive kindergartener from a classroom. Id. at *1. The
court noted that the student “had refused to leave the
room or even stand up” after “[r]epeated requests that
he voluntarily do so.” Id. at *4. The student alleged
that the official “slammed [the student] to the floor’
and ‘dragged [him] along the ground to the principal’s
office,” which resulted in bruising. Id. at *1. The court
found that the use of force was objectively reasonable
because the “alleged efforts to subdue” the student
“were fairly tailored to [the student’s] admitted mis-
behavior.” Id. at *5.

Courts in the Fifth Circuit have not squarely ad-
dressed what constitutes an objectively unreasonable
use of a taser against a student. Outside the Fifth Cir-
cuit, several cases offer guidance. Most cases suggest
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that an officer’s use of a taser against a student may
be objectively reasonable if the student was warned
before the officer deployed the taser, and the student
was resistant, fighting, or struggling with the officers.
In Johnson v. City of Lincoln Park, 434 F. Supp. 2d
467, 478 (E.D. Mich. 2006), the student had a pattern
of disruptive behavior, failed to comply with school of-
ficial’s requests to hand over a videogame, and strug-
gled against the officers who tried to subdue him. Id.
at 469-70. A school resource officer warned the stu-
dent that unless he stopped resisting, the officer
would use a taser, and showed the student how it
worked. Id. at 470. When the student’s resistance con-
tinued, the officer used his taser. The student said
later that it did not hurt but merely “tickled.” Id. at
478. The court concluded that the officer was entitled
to qualified immunity because the use of force was
limited. Id.

In contrast, the court in Geist v. Ammary, 40 F.
Supp. 3d 467 (E.D. Pa. 2014), concluded that there
were genuine factual disputes material to determin-
ing whether the force used was excessive because it
was unclear if the officer had warned a student that
he was about to use his taser. Id. at 480—82. “Whether
warnings were given prior to tasing is important to
showing whether this use of force was appropriate.”
Id. at 480 (citing Brown v. Cwynar, 484 F. App’x. 676
(3d Cir. 2012) (tasing a criminal suspect during an ar-
rest was not excessive after an officer was called to
deal with the plaintiff’s disruptive behavior and the
plaintiff did not comply with the officer’s requests));
see also R.T. v. Cincinnati Pub. Schs., No. 1:05-cv-605,
2006 WL 3833519, at *2 (S.D. Ohio Dec. 29, 2006) (an



75a

officer’s use of force was reasonable when tasing a stu-
dent who was creating a disturbance, did not comply
with the officer’s repeated orders, kicked and bit the
officer, and was warned that she would be tased if she
persisted).

Ms. Washington looks outside the case law to ar-
gue that Officer Paley’s use of force was objectively
unreasonable because he did not follow school policies
and procedures. (Docket Entry No. 29 at 27). She ar-
gues that the policies require school-security staff, in-
cluding school resource officers like Officer Paley, to
“make a good-faith effort to divert a person suffering
from a mental health crisis for treatment when that
person is in the midst of a crisis.” (Id. at 16 (citing 29-
5 at 8)). She argues that Katy Independent School
District School Board policies allow force “when a stu-
dent is out of control, but only ‘to further educational
purposes’ or ‘to maintain discipline in a group.” (Id.).
She also asserts that the Texas Education Code for-
bids a “discipline management practice [that is] cal-
culated to inflict injury, cause harm, or demean the
student.” (Id. (citing TEX. EDUC. CODE § 37.002(b)(1);
19T.A.C. § 89.1053)). Ms. Washington argues that the
Katy Independent School District and Officer Paley
violated these policies and procedures when J.W. was
tased and restrained. (Id. at 17). This argument does
not address qualified immunity in a § 1983 action.
The critical question is whether Officer Paley violated
J.W.’s federally protected rights, not whether he fol-
lowed school policies or state law.

The record shows that J.W. refused to follow school
staff members’ and officers’ instructions, was agitated
and insistent on leaving, and that Officer Paley gave
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warnings before using the taser, but it is disputed
that he pushed a staff member, so as to justify the
taser use. And Officer Paley did not stop using the
taser when J.W. stopped resisting. The record evi-
dence of Officer Paley’s interactions with J.W. shows
genuine factual disputes material to deciding whether
the tasing itself, its length, and its intensity, were ob-
jectively reasonable. These disputes preclude sum-
mary judgment.

Officer Paley asserts that he decided to intervene
only after he “saw J.W. make physical contact with
Guard Oglesby and Guard Oglesby start[ed] to fall
backward.” (Docket Entry No. 28-1 at § 6). Officer Pa-
ley asserts that he first tried “soft or hard hand tech-
niques” on J.W., while also telling J.W. to calm down,
but those efforts did not work. (Id.). Officer Paley
states that he then “told [J.W.] that [he] didn’t want
to tase him and that he needed to calm down ... but
J.W. just replied ‘Do it, fucking it!”” (Id.). According to
Officer Paley, it was then that he decided to use the
taser. (Id. at § 7). When the first tasing did not work,
he “drive stunned” J.W. (Id.). Officer Paley does not
mention two drive-stun applications. (See id.). Officer
Paley’s statement in the police report does not state
whether he gave J.W. a warning, but it is consistent
in recounting that he used the taser at least twice.
(See Docket Entry No. 28-4 at 4). The taser-download
report shows one deployment, but it lasted a total of
19 seconds. (Docket Entry No. 31-3 at 6).

Officer Molina’s statement in the police report is
consistent with Officer Paley’s version of events. (See
id. at 12). She notes that J.W. was told that he could

not leave the school and became “non-responsive to
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any of [the school officers’ and officials’] communica-
tion with him.” (Id.). She states that J.W. “started
pushing his way through Security Guard Oglesby.”
(Id.). According to Officer Molina and Officer Paley
“Instructed [J.W.] to calm down several times” as he,
security guard Oglesby, and Officer Molina all held
J.W. (Id.). She states that “Officer Paley told [J.W.]
that he did not want to have to taser him and that he
needed to calm down,” to which J.W. “replied ‘do it,
fucking do it’ and pushed with extreme force through
the doorway.” (Id.). She states that Officer Paley used
the taser twice, stopping after J.W. was lying on the
ground. (Id.).

Vice-Principal Majewski’s and security guard
Oglesby’s statements to the Katy Independent School
District Police Department also state that Officer Pa-
ley gave J.W. a warning. (Id. at 14, 16). Vice-Princi-
pal Majewski reiterates in her declaration that Of-
ficer Paley tased J.W. only after he “tried to push his
body against Officer Oglesby at the exit of the build-
ing,” and that Officer Paley “told J.W. several times
that he would tase [J.W.] if [J.W.] continued.” (Docket
Entry No. 28-8 at 3, § 4).

J.W.s declaration tells a different story. He states
that as he tried to leave the school building because
he was feeling anxious and knew that only “walking
1t off” would calm him, “the male official closest to
[him] initiated physical contact ... and for no apparent
reason attempted to block [him] from exiting the
building.” (Docket Entry No. 29-2 at § 17). J.W. as-
serts that “Officer Paley then briskly walked towards
[him] and “start[ed] to tase [him] and had [him]
against a pole in a chokehold.” (Id. at 19 18-19). J.W.
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states that after the first taser use, while he was in
pain and had turned his back away from the officers,
Officer Paley used the taser. (Id. 99 21-22). According
to J.W., Officer Paley continued to tase him even after
he was on the ground, hitting him “with his taser gun
six to eight times,” until a staff member told Officer
Paley to stop. (Id. at 9 23, 26).

The body-camera recording underscores factual
disputes that are material to determining whether
Officer Paley’s tasing was reasonable. While the re-
cording shows J.W. disagreeing with school staff
about leaving, it is unclear that he pushed against a
staff member or a security guard when trying to go
through the door. (Docket Entry No. 28-10 at
12:45:54). In less than one minute after J.W. tried to
exit, he begins screaming, is tased, falls to his knees,
and has the taser held against him until he falls to
the ground. (Id. at 12:46:37). While Officer Paley
stated that the first tasing had no effect on J.W., the
video recording shows J.W. falling to his knees when
Officer Paley “drive stuns” J.W. The drive stunning
either continues or is repeated until J.W. lies com-
pletely flat. (Id. at 12:46:56—47:11). Officer Paley then
aims the taser at J.W.’s head and threatens him for
several seconds after J.W. is no longer moving and is
flat on the ground. (Id. at 12:47:50).

The questions on which the evidence conflicts in-
clude whether it was objectively reasonable to believe
that the force used was needed to keep J.W. in the
building, and, perhaps more critically, whether Of-
ficer Paley’s continued use of the taser, including the
“drive stun” technique, after J.W. fell to his knees was
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reasonable. These and related disputes preclude sum-
mary judgment.

ii. The Decision to Place J.W. in
Handcuffs

The defendants argue that this court should follow
cases concluding that similar procedures “to immobi-
lize and eventually handcuff suspects is both reason-
able and not an excessive use of force.” (Docket Entry
No. 28 at 21 (citing Rodriguez v. Farrell, 280 F.3d
1341, 1351 (11th Cir. 2002); Neague v. Cynkar, 258
F.3d 504, 508 (6th Cir. 2001); Jones v. Webb, 45 F.3d
178 (7th Cir. 1995)). Mss. Washington did not respond
to this argument.

As discussed above, courts have found that an of-
ficer’s decision to handcuff a student is objectively
reasonable if the student is a danger to the officers or
others, including himself or herself, or if the student
1s actively resisting the officer’s verbal and physical
commands. The officer must stop applying force when
the student has stopped resisting. The defendants cite
witness declarations and the police report as evidence
that attempts to calm J.W. had failed and school staff
could not convince J.W. to stay inside the building.
(See Docket Entry No. 28-4). The summary judgment
evidence also shows, and Ms. Washington has not
pointed to conflicting evidence, that Officer Paley and
school officials contacted medical help when J.W. said
that he had difficulty breathing, and the officers posi-
tioned J.W. to prevent breathing problems. (See
Docket Entry No. 28-1 at 9 8).
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Because Ms. Washington has not offered or identi-
fied summary judgment evidence to dispute the de-
fendants’ arguments and evidence, there is no genu-
ine factual dispute material to concluding that Officer
Paley’s decision to handcuff J.W. and keep him on the
floor did not violate J.W.’s Fourth Amendment rights.

2. J.W.’s Due-Process Rights

Ms. Washington alleges that Officer Paley violated
J.W.’s substantive and procedural due-process rights,
including his liberty interest in bodily integrity.
“[S]chool children have a liberty interest in their bod-
ily integrity protected by the Due Process Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment, and ... physical abuse by
a school employee violates that right.” Arevalo-Rivas
v. Austin Indep. Sch. Dist., No. A-15-CV-430-LY, 2015
WL 7161995, at *4 (W.D. Tex. Nov. 13, 2015) (citing
Doe v. Taylor Indep. Sch. Dist., 15 F.3d 443, 451-52
(1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 815 (1994)). However, a
student may not bring a substantive-due process
claim for corporal punishment intended to discipline
the student, even if the punishment was excessive, be-
cause Texas provides adequate administrative reme-
dies. Moore v. Willis Indep. Sch. Dist., 233 F.3d 871,
875 (5th Cir. 2000).

A threshold question is whether Officer Paley’s ac-
tions were corporal punishment. “[F]airly character-
1zing an act as corporal punishment depends on
whether the school official intended to discipline the
student for the purpose of maintaining order or re-
spect or to cause harm to the student for no legitimate
pedagogical purpose.” Flores v. Sch. Bd. of DeSoto
Par., 116 F. App’x 504, 511 (5th Cir. 2004). In
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Marquez v. Garnett, 567 F. App’x 214 (5th Cir. 2014),
a teacher allegedly “cursed and yelled” at, shoved, and
“repeatedly kicked” a severely autistic and physically
disabled student because the student “was sliding
[the teacher’s] compact disc across a table during
class time.” Id. at 217. The court concluded that be-
cause “the setting [was] pedagogical, and [the] stu-
dent’s action was unwarranted,” the teacher’s actions
were corporal punishment. Id. When the use of force
1s not related to an educational goal, this analysis
does not apply. In Doe v. Taylor Independent School
District, 15 F.3d 443 (5th Cir. 1994), the court consid-
ered whether a student alleging that a teacher had
sexually abused her stated a wviable Fourteenth
Amendment claim for a violation of bodily integrity.
Id. at 451. The court concluded that Fee did not pre-
clude this claim because that alleged abuse was not
related to an educational goal. Id.

The defendants point to McAlister, which con-
cluded that Fee foreclosed the substantive due-pro-
cess claim because “injuries sustained incidentally to
corporal punishment, irrespective of the severity of
these injuries or the sensitivity of the student, do not
1implicate the due process clause if the forum state af-
fords adequate post-punishment civil or criminal rem-
edies for the student to vindicate legal transgressions.”
McAlister, 1998 WL 770706, at *5 (quoting Fee, 900
F.2d at 808). Because the “use of force to remove [the
student] from [the] classroom [was] rationally related
to legitimate school interests in maintaining school
interests,” and because “Texas provides civil and
criminal post-deprivation remedies for the excessive
use of force by school officials,” the due-process claim
failed as a matter of law. Id.
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While Ms. Washington argues that the force used
against J.W. was not a form of discipline, she concedes
in the amended complaint that restraints may be a
form of discipline. (Docket Entry No. 12 at q 23). The
force used against J.W. can be characterized as disci-
pline because the summary judgment evidence sup-
ports that it was rationally related to the school’s le-
gitimate interest in maintaining order and keeping
J.W. safe. Summary judgment evidence shows that
J.W. was yelling and cursing at school staff members,
had thrown a classroom desk, punched and pushed
another student, was attempting to leave the building
by himself during school hours, and refused school of-
ficials’ efforts and orders to stay inside. Under Fee, Ms.
Washington cannot maintain her due-process claims
based on Officer Paley’s use of force. The defendants
are entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law
on these claims.

3. J.W.’s Equal Protection Rights

The amended complaint alleges that Officer Pa-
ley’s actions “singularly discriminated against J.W.
when treating him in a disparate manner as com-
pared to other students similarly situated.” (Docket
Entry No. 12 at 9 144). The defendants argue that the
complaint “failed to allege any facts that would sug-
gest that any protected class which J.W. might belong
actually motivated Officer Paley’s actions towards
J.W.” (Docket Entry No. 28 at 24). Ms. Washington
did not address this issue in her response. (See Docket
Entry No. 29).

“The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment commands that no State shall ‘deny to
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any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection
of the laws,” which is essentially a direction that all
persons similarly situated should be treated alike.”
City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432,
439 (1985) (quoting Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 216
(1982)). To state an equal-protection claim for a class
of one, a plaintiff must allege that he or she has “been
intentionally treated differently from others similarly
situated and that there is no rational basis for the dif-
ference in treatment.” Vill. of Willowbrook v. Olech,
528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000) (citing cases).

Ms. Washington alleges that J.W.’s disabilities led
the school officials to keep him from leaving the build-
ing to walk home by himself, while a nondisabled stu-
dent would have been free to do so. The amended com-
plaint does not allege, and the summary judgment
does not support an inference, that Officer Paley’s re-
fusal to let J.W. leave the building, the tasing, or the
use of handcuffs was motivated by animus based on
J.W.s status as a member of a protected class.
(Docket Entry Nos. 12, 29). Ms. Washington has not
offered or identified summary judgment evidence
showing that a nondisabled student would have been
allowed to leave campus, and the defendants point to
the Mayde High School Student Handbook, which for-
bids students from leaving school without permission
during the school day. And to the extent J.W.’s disa-
bilities triggered additional concerns that his own
safety was at risk if allowed to leave unsupervised,
there 1s no basis to find invidious discrimination mo-
tivated by animus. See Sadik v. Univ. of Hous., No.
CIV.A. H-03-4296, 2005 WL 1828588, at *10 (S.D. Tex.
Aug. 1, 2005). Summary judgment is granted to the
defendants on this claim.
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D. The § 1983 Claims Against the Katy Inde-
pendent School District

The amended complaint asserts § 1983 claims
against the Katy Independent School District for ex-
cessive force, a deprivation of J.W.’s liberty interest in
bodily integrity, a deprivation of J.W.’s privacy inter-
est in bodily integrity, and violations of J.W.’s right to
equal protection, all under the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments. (Docket Entry No. 12 at §9 124-36, 139,
140, 144). Ms. Washington’s counsel informed the
court at the motion hearing that Ms. Washington was
abandoning these claims. Summary judgment is
granted on these claims.

E. The Claim for Violation of a Constitutional
Right to an Education

The amended complaint alleges that Officer Pa-
ley’s actions “violated J.W.’s rights under the Consti-
tution of Texas and the Constitution of the United
States as to a free and proper education.” (Docket En-
try No. 12 at § 146). Ms. Washington relies on the
Fourteenth Amendment of the federal Constitution
and Article 1, §§ 3 and 4 of the Texas Constitution for
this right. (Id. at §9 147—49).

The case law is clear that education is not a fun-
damental right under the federal Constitution. See
Plyler, 457 U.S. at 221 (“Public education is not a
‘right’ granted to individuals by the Constitution.”);
San Antonio Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S.
1, 35 (1973) (“Education, of course, is not among the
rights afforded explicit protection under our Federal
Constitution. Nor do we find any basis for saying it is
so implicitly protected.”). If a State maintains a public
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system and requires children in that State to attend,
then the “State is constrained to recognize a student’s
legitimate entitlement to a public education as a prop-
erty interest, which is protected by the Due Process
Clause and which may not be taken away for miscon-
duct without adherence to the minimum procedures
required by that Clause.” Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565,
574 (1975). In Swindle v. Livingston Parish School
Board, 655 F.3d 386, 393 (5th Cir. 2011), the Fifth
Circuit interpreted Goss to require that a student
“facing suspension and the consequent interference
with a protected property interest must be given some
kind of notice and afforded some kind of hearing.” Id.
at 397 (internal quotation marks omitted). The court
explained that due process requires a student to have
an opportunity to explain his or her version of events
before an official may suspend that student. In reach-
ing this conclusion, the court relied on a Louisiana
statute directing school boards to provide public edu-
cation generally and to provide suspended or expelled
students alternative education. Id. at 402.

The record evidence does not support finding that
Officer Paley’s actions denied J.W. a right to partici-
pate in the education process at the Mayde Creek
High School. The amended complaint does not allege
that J.W. was expelled or disciplined, which would, at
minimum, require the school to comply with J.W.’s
due-process right to explain his version of events. The
summary judgment evidence instead shows that after
the incident, Ms. Washington decided to keep J.W.
home from school because she “fear[ed] for his safety.”
(Docket Entry No. 12 at § 114). The defendants have
pointed to evidence that school officials tried to con-
tact Ms. Washington about J.W.’s absences, but she
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responded only sporadically and did not send J.W.
back to school for six months. (Docket Entry No. 28-8
at 19 3-4, 11-14).

To the extent that the claim is brought against Of-
ficer Paley, he is entitled to qualified immunity. Of-
ficer Paley’s actions did not violate a clearly estab-
lished constitutional “right to an education.” Ms.
Washington’s allegations that Officer Paley violated
the Texas Constitution fail because Texas has no pro-
vision analogous to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the Texas
Supreme Court has held that there is no implied
cause of action for damages under the Texas Consti-
tution. City of Beaumont v. Bouillion, 896 S.W.2d 143,
147 (Tex. 1995). Ms. Washington does not seek equi-
table relief.

The defendants are entitled to summary judgment
as a matter of law on this claim.

IV. Conclusion

The defendants’ summary judgment motion on the
claims for violations of the ADA, the Rehabilitation
Act, the Equal Protection Clause, and J.W.’s due-pro-
cess rights to bodily integrity is granted. Summary
judgment is also granted to the defendants on the
§ 1983 claim against Katy ISD. The summary judg-
ment motion as to the § 1983 claim against Officer
Paley is denied because there are genuine factual dis-
putes material to determining if a reasonable officer
in Officer Paley’s position would have used the
amount or type of force he used.
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SIGNED on June 5, 2019, at Houston, Texas.

LA, (BB

Lee H. Rosenthal
Chief United States District Judge
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APPENDIX D

United States Court of Appeals
for the Fifth Circuit

[Filed October 10, 2023]

No. 21-20671

J. W.; LORI WASHINGTON, as next friend J. W.,
Plaintiffs—Appellants,
versus
ELVIN PALEY; KATY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Defendants—Appellees.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Texas
USDC No. 4:18-CV-1848

ON PETITION FOR REHEARING AND RE-
HEARING EN BANC

Before GRAVES, WILLETT, and ENGELHARDT, Circuit
Judges.

PER CURIAM:

The petition for panel rehearing is DENIED. Be-
cause no member of the panel or judge in regular ac-
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tive service requested that the court be polled on re-
hearing en banc (FED. R. App. P. 35 and 5TH CIR. R.
35), the petition for rehearing en banc is DENIED.



90a
APPENDIX E

United States Court of Appeals
for the Fifth Circuit

[Filed November 18, 2021]

No. 19-20429

J. W.; LORI WASHINGTON, A/N/F J. W.,
Plaintiffs—Appellees,
versus
ELVIN PALEY,

Defendant—Appellant.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Texas
USDC No. 4:18-CV-1848

ON PETITION FOR REHEARING AND RE-
HEARING EN BANC

Before KING, JONES, and COSTA, Circuit Judges.
PER CURIAM:

The petition for panel rehearing is DENIED. Be-
cause no member of the panel or judge in regular ac-
tive service requested that the court be polled on re-
hearing en banc (FED. R. ApP. P. 35 and 5TH CIR. R.
35), the petition for rehearing en banc is DENIED.
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